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to Defendant's Counter Motion for Summary Judgment. This Opposition is based on 

the points and authorities enclosed herein, any and all exhibits attached hereto or 

previously filed in this matter and any oral argument entertained by the Court at the 

time of hearing on this matter. 

I. 
FACTS RELEVANT TO THE INSTANT COUNTER MOTION  

As previously disclosed in Plaintiffs own Motion for Summary Judgment 

which is currently pending before this Court at the time of this filing, Plaintiff 

Humphries was approached, verbally harassed and ultimately savagely battered while 

a guest of Defendant, present on the casino floor of New York-New York. During 

discovery in this matter, Defendant's corporate designee and security manager, Glenn 

Nulle, summarized the attack in his deposition: 

Q. All right. What are you -- what is your knowledge of the event 
regarding my client, Carey Humphries, in April 10th, 2010? 

A. My knowledge of the event. Ms. Humphries was walking through the 
casino when she went over to address another patron, allegedly 
complementing her. Some words were exchanged. I don't know exactly 
what was exchanged. Allegedly she spit in this guy's face, and he gave her 
a beathig.1  (Emphasis added) 

Both Plaintiffs were severely injured in the incident. This case is, and always 

has been, a lawsuit related to the civil liability of Defendant based on their negligent 

security. During the deposition of Mr. Nulle, the following relevant, under-oath 

testimony was provided. Mr. Nulle testified that only one (1) security officer initially 

responded to the attack and then simply stood back and watched Plaintiff Humphries 

be attacked: 

Exhibit 4 of Plaint ill" s Motion for Summary Judgment. Deposition of Glom Nulle. 17:14-22 
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Q. And when you witnessed him standing back, did you also witness 
Patron Humphries continue to get attacked? 

A. I did. 

Q. Okay. And do you know approximately how many seconds went by 
while he stood back and watched her get attacked? 

A, I recall 12 to 15 seconds.2  

Mr. Nulle stated that he, as the representative of Defendant simply had no idea 

how much security personnel would be needed to make the Defendant's premises safe. 

He said: 

Q. Do you know how many security personnel are necessary for your 
casino floor to ensure the premises are safe for patrons? 

A. I don't have a number, no.3  

Mr. Nulle went on to testify that the casino floor area was some 85,000 square 

feet and that he had no idea how many patrons were within this massive area. He 

further testified that there were only three (3) security personnel on the casino floor: 

Q. Okay. And the only personnel actually assigned to be within the 
vicinity would be these t' -u-ee security personnel? 

A. Correct. They would be on the immediate casino floor.4  

As evidence of the foreseeability of the precise situation which occurred in this 

case, Mr. Nulle testified that a fight occurs every couple days on the casino floor 

location alone: 

Q. And you've testified previously, sir, that it's foreseeable that fights can 
occur on your casino floor, right, sir? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. And in fact — is that a yes? 

A. Yes. 

25 

26 - Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 24:5:11 
3  Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 29:15-18 

Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment. Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 40:21-25 
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Q. In fact, I've been provided multiple other fights that have occurred on 
your casino floor during this litigation. Are you aware of that? 

A. No. 

Q. Could you to your understanding tell us how many fights have 
occurred on the casino floor at New York-New York in 2010? 

A. I don't have that number. 

Q. Can you give us your best estimate? One a month? 

A. I wish. 

Q. Okay. Well, then can you please elaborate for us, sir? 

A. I would say two to three a week.5  

Finally, Defendant has admitted that the attack on Plaintiffs, or at least the 

extent of the attack, could have been limited with adequate security: 

Q. You would agree with me that if there was more security personnel on 
the floor, that the fight or at least the extent of the fight could have been 
limited? 

A, If there was more security officers in that area, yes." 

IL 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. 	Standard for Summary Judgment 

Summary judgment is appropriate under NRCP 56 when the pleadings, 

20 depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, that are 

21 properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and 

1-$ the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The substantive law 

23 controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; 

2.4 

25 

26 
5  Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 53:18-54;1 I 

27 5  Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle. 57:2-6 
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1 other factual disputes are irrelevant. A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is 

such that a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for the nonrnoving party.7  

3 	In this case, as outlined below, the Defendant's own statements and admissions 

4 provide sufficient evidence such that Defendant's Counter Motion must be denied. 

5 there should be no disputed as to the facts outlined herein. 

6 
2. 	Argument in Response to Defendant's Counter Motion: 

As this Court is aware, many of the issues related to Defendant's Counter Motion 

for Summary Judgment were originally briefed and provided to this Court in Plaintiff's 

original Motion for Summary Judgment which is currently pending before this Court. 

In order to not reiterate the Plaintiffs previously submitted authority and argument, 

Plaintiff will limit this response to the issues raised in Defendant's Counter Motion. 

As outlined below, Defendant improperly applies the standard of civil liability of 

innkeepers for injuries caused to a third party by a person who is not employee, 

pursuant to NRS 651.015 and the holding in Estate of Smith ex rel. Smith v. IVIahoney's 

Silver Nugget, Inc.8  

a. 	This Incident was Foreseeable: 

18 

19 	Pursuant to NRS 651.015, an innkeeper is not civilly liable for the death or injury 

20 of a patron or other person on the premises caused by another person who is not an 

21 employee under the control or supervision of the owner or keeper unless: 

1 .1 
	

(a) The wrongful act which caused the death or injury was foreseeable; and 

23 	 (b) There is a preponderance of evidence that the owner or keeper did not 

24 exercise due care for the safety of the patron or other person on the premises. 

25 

7  Wood v. Sqpway, Inc.. 121 Nev. 724,121 P.3d 1026. 10.31 (2005). 
8  265 1) .3(.1 688. 691 (Nev.. 2011). 
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However, an Innkeeper is civilly liable for the death or injury of a patron or 

other person on the premises caused by another person who is not an employee under 

the control or supervision of the owner or keeper if: 

(a) The wrongful act which caused the death or injury was foreseeable; and 

(b) The owner or keeper failed to take reasonable precautions against the 

foreseeable wrongful act. 

For purposes of the Innkeeper statute, as wrongful act is not foreseeable unless: 

(a) The owner or keeper failed to exercise due care for the safety of the patron 

or other person on the premises; or 

(b) Prior incidents of similar wrongful acts occurred on the premises and the 

owner or keeper had notice or knowledge of those incidents. 

The Nevada Supreme Court in Estate of Smith reviewed the Legislative History 

related to NRS 651.015, which acknowledged that an innkeeper cannot guarantee the 

safety of guests, but it must still engage in certain precautions.9  The Court noted that the 

Legislature wanted to give Judges "broad leeway" in evaluating foreseeability on a case-

by-case basis." Further, the legislature used the term "similar" for purposes associated 

with its common usage, thus letting the judge determine if a particular wrongful act was 

similar to another wrongful act)' Moreover, the legislative history indicates that the 

"due care" language in NRS 651.015(3)(a) was intended as authority for a judge to 

consider other circumstances regarding the basic minimum precautions that are 

reasonably expected of an innkeeper. 

It should be clear to this Court that the Defendant is incorrect when it claims that 

it did not owe Plaintiffs a duty as Ferrell's acts were not similar to another wrongful act 

and thus not foreseeable. Defendant essentially makes the leap that for a particular 

9  Id. at 692. 
1°  Id. 

6 
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1 wrongful act to be "similar" it must be exactly identical to a prior wrongful act. While it 

is understandable that Defendant would want this to be the standard, neither the 

3 Nevada Supreme Court in the in the case of Estate of Smith, the Nevada Legislature, or 

4 any other Court in any jurisdiction for that matter, has provided such a standard. 

	

5 
	In Estate of Smith, the court distinguished the wrongful act, an individual fatally 

6 shooting someone inside the casino, from prior fistfights and robberies, where no serious 

7 injuries occurred and no weapons, and incidents that took place outside the casino.r2  

8 Clearly, those acts were not "similar", as commonly used, to the act at issue in Estate of 

9 
Smith. 

	

10 
	Here however, we are not comparing gunshots to fistfights, just the same as we 

11 
are not comparing apples to oranges. In this instance, we are talking about a wrongful 

12 
act -- a fight between Defendant's patrons - which was similar to the two or three fights 

13 
that occurred every week as stated by Defendant's designee. See Exhibit 4 of Plaintiff's 

14 
Motion for Summary Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 53:18-54:11. Despite 

15 
Defendant's contention to the contrary, Plaintiffs need not show that every fact leading 

up to and the brutal beating sustained by Plaintiffs in this matter were exactly the same 
16 

as a prior wrongful act. Here, it is clear that the precise type of incident which gave rise 
17 

to all of Plaintiff's injuries occurred several times each week. Accordingly, Plaintiff has 
18 

established foreseeability and done so based on the under-oath testimony of Defendant's 
19 

own corporate designee. AS such, this evidence alone dictates that Defendant's Counter 

20 Motion must fail. 
21 

	

22 	
b. Defendant did not take Reasonable Precautions to ensure safety of guests: 

23 

	

24 	Defendant's claim that it took basic minimum precautions is insincere. Defendant 
25 did not know how many people would be on its premises, nor did it evaluate how many 

26 

	

27 
	Id. at 692-93. 

	

28 
	 7 
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1 security personnel would be appropriate to have on staff to provide the minimum of  

precaution to its patrons." Defendant chose to only keep three (3) security personnel on 

3 the casino floor that night14  and the attack also took place close to a nightclub and a bar 

4 area. Further, only one (1) security personnel responded to the altercation and he failed 

to take any immediate action. He simply stood back and watched a Humphries, a 

woman, receive a brutal beating from Ferrell, a man, for 12-15 seconds.' 5  Moreover, 

7 Defendant's designee admitted that the attack, or at least the extent of the attack, could 

8 have been limited with additional security personnel:16  Also, Defendant's designee 

admitted that the Security SOP [Standard Operating Procedure] states" the role of 

security is to respond to confrontations quickly, regain control of the situation and take 

prudent action to ensure the safety of other guests, visitors and employees" and agreed 

that description was accurate of their role.17  Accordingly, based on the foregoing. 

Defendant did not take the basic minimum precautions necessary and, consequently, 

their Counter Motion for Summary Judgment must fail. 

Ferrell's Actions were not a Superseding/intervening Cause as to cut off 
Liability for Defendant's Negligence. 

Finally, Defendant's argument that Ferrell's act was a superseding, intervening 

cause such that Defendant's negligence was not the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' 

injuries is a red herring and an attempt to confuse the issues. As the Nevada Supreme 

Court has clearly held, "an intervening act will only be superseding and cut off liability 

if it is unforeseeable."18  In Bower v Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., a case for which I know this 

Court is familiar and was ironically not cited by Defendant in its discussion of 
23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

13  Exhibit 4. Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs 
14  Exhibit 4. Exhibit 4 of Plaintiff s 
15  Exhibit 4, Exhibit 4 of Plaintiffs 
16  Exhibit 4, Exhibit 4 of.  Plaintifrs 
17  Exhibit 4, Exhibit 4 of Plaintiff's 
18  Bower v. Harralis Laughlin. Inc.. 

Motion for Summary  Judgment. Deposition of Glum Nulle, 28:17-20; 29:15-1N 
Motion for Summary  Judgment. Deposition of Glenn Mille, 40:21-25 
Motion for Summary  Judgment, Deposition of Olean Nulle. 24:5-11 
Motion for Summary  Judgment, Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 57:2-6 
Motion for Summary  Judgment. Deposition of Glenn Nulle, 24:19-25 
125 Nev. 470,491-92 (Nev. 2009). 
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1 intervening, superseding events, a biker brawl took place at the Harrah's Laughlin 

Casino.19  Two of the Plaintiffs, guests not involved in the brawl nor aware it had 

occurred, brought suit for police officer's actions outside the casino.2° The Nevada 

4 Supreme Court found that the subsequent actions of police officers were intervening 

5 causes superseding Harrah's liability for negligence related to the biker brawl as their 

CP actions were extraordinary and unforeseeable intentional torts.21  However, the Court 

asserted that "Harrah's negligence would cause harm such as patrons suffering injuries 

8 
in the brawl or having their stay disrupted by the brawl."22  

9 
	Here, Defendant's negligence, in not making its premises reasonably safe for 

10 
invited guests, caused the injuries to Plaintiffs. The unreasonable injuries sustained by 

11 
the Plaintiff were foreseeable, as Defendant's negligence in not maintaining enough 

12 
security and failing to reasonably respond to a physical altercation between a man and 

13 
woman allowed the actions of Ferrell to occur which caused Plaintiffs to suffer injuries. 

14 
Accordingly, pursuant to Bower, Ferrell's actions were the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' 

15 
injuries and Defendant's Counter Motion must fail. 

16 
/// 

17 
Ill 

18 
/// 

19 

20 
/// 

21 

1 .1 

//I 
23 

24 

ll  M. at 475.490-493 
21) M. at 490-91. 
21  Id. at 491-93. 
22  Id. at 492, 
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27 

28 

0267 



CONCLUSION  

Based on the foregoing, Defendant's Counter Motion for Summary Judgment is 

without merit and must be DENIED. 

Dated this 10th day of January, 2014. 

HOFLAND Sr TOMSHECK 
8 

9 

1 0 
By:  /s/1. Toinsiteck 

Joshua Tomsheck Esq. 
State Bar of Nevada No.: 009210 
josht@hoflandlaw.com  
228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 895-6760 
Facsimile: (702) 731-6910 

DRUMMOND & NELSON 
Craig W. Drummond, Esq. 
craig@drummondfirm.com   
Nevada Bar No. 011109 
228 South 4th Street, First Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Phone: (702) 366-9966 
Fax: (702) 508-9440 
Attorney for Plain tiff(s) 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

Pursuant to MCP 5(b) I hereby certify that I am an employee of HOFLAND & 

TOMSHECK and that on the 10th day of January, 2014, service of a true and correct copy 

5 
of the foregoing OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 

tSt. CASINO'S COUNTER MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT was made as 
7 

8 
indicated below: 

9 
	 X 	 By First Class Mail, postage prepaid from Las Vegas, Nevada; or 

10   By Facsimile to the numbers indicated on this certificate of service; or 

11   By Personal Service as indicated. 
12 

13 To the following: 

KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
Martin J. Kravitz, Esq, 
Kristopher T. Zeppenfeld, Esq. 
8985 S. Eastern Ave., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 

17 Attorneys for Defendant 
New York-Nevi• York Hotel &Casino, LI,C 

18 

19 

By:  /s/ fT" 

21 
	 An Employee of Hofland & Tomsheck 
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MARTIN J. KRAVITZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KR1STOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No, 12144 
ICRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Telephone: (702) 362-6666 
Facsimile: 	(702) 362-2203 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 

cA;s. a6L-- 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

8 	 EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

9 
	 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

10 
	

CAREY HUMPHRIES, an individual, and 
	

Case No.: A-11-641181-C 

11 
	LORENZO ROCHA, III, an individual, 	Dept. No.: XVII 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

g; 17 	 DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS  

	

18 	 COUNTER MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

	

19 	COMES NOW, Defendant, NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & CASINO ("NYNY"), 

by and through its counsel of record, the law firm of Kravitz, Schnitzer & Johnson, Chtd. and 

hereby files its Reply in Support of Its Counter Motion for Summary Judgment. 
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NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & 
CASINO, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company, d/b/a NEW YORK-NEW YORK 
HOTEL & CASINO, DOES I-V, and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I-V, inclusive. 

Defendants. 

DATE: 01/29/14 

TIME: 8:30 a.m. 
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This Reply is based upon the points and authorities enclosed herein, any exhibits attached 

2 hereto, and any oral arguments entertained by the Court at the time of hearing on this matter. 

3 
	

DATED this 9,V1   day of January, 2014. 
KRAViTZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 

4 

5 
MARTIN J. ICRAILITZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KRISTOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Telephone: 	(702) 362-6666 
Facsimile: 	(702) 362-2203 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This Honorable Court should deny Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendant New-York New 

York Hotel's ("NYNY") Countermotion for Motion for Surrunary Judgment ("Opposition") as it 

continues to misinterpret and mischaracterize the legal authority governing the foreseeability 

analysis in a negligence matter. Plaintiffs' ignore the evidence on the record demonstrating 

NYNY fulfilled any and all security obligations as it relates to negligence liability. Plaintiffs 

"factual basis" supporting their Opposition is merely a string of conclusory statements premised 

upon incomplete and inaccurate citations of deposition testimony that do not demonstrate NYNY 

was negligent. 

II. ARGUMENT 

Plaintiffs' Opposition essentially asserts the same misplaced arguments contained in their 

Motion for Summary Judgment relating to the duty element of a negligence claim. Plaintiffs 

claim NYNY owed them a duty under NRS § 651.015 as the underlying incident involving 

Plaintiffs and Third-Party Eric Ferrell ("Ferrell") was foreseeable. See Plaintiffs' Opp. at p. 6. 

14 

Page 2 of 6 
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I 	Moreover, Plaintiffs claim Estate of Smith supports their position that prior incidents of similar 

2 acts have occurred on NYNY's premises, imparting a duty upon NYNY. 

	

3 	Plaintiffs rely upon a single excerpt of deposition testimony from Glen Nulle ("Mr. 

	

4 	Nulle") to support their claims. Specifically. Plaintiffs' reference Mr. Nulle's testimony that he 

5 estimates two to three fights per week occurs on the premises. This testimony alone does not 

6 satisfy the "prior similar acts" analysis. As set forth in NYNY's Opposition and Countermotion 

	

7 	for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs failed to produce specific details related to the alleged two to 

8 three fights per week. Moreover, NYNY provided documentary evidence in the form of prior 

	

9 	incident reports demonstrating no prior similar acts had occurred on the premises. Plaintiffs' 

10 Opposition contains contradictory premises in which they posit they "need not show every 

	

11 	fact...in this matter was exactly the same as a prior wrongful act." Id. at p. 7. Plaintiffs then 

	

12 	claim "it is clear that the precise types of incident which gave rise to all of Plaintiffs' injuries 
c'w) WC.) N 	cA 13 	occurred several times per week." Id. Plaintiffs further claim they are refraining from comparing 
cd c4  0 	.^ 

F FA1 14 apples to oranges. On the contrary, that is precisely what they are doing. Plaintiffs are equating 
S E Z 

	

15 	the underlying incident to the 'two to three" fights per week without providing any analysis or 
ted  

t> 16 specific details of the "two to three fights" which would demonstrate they were similar_ 
0 

	

00 	17 	Therefore, Plaintiffs have failed to satisfy the "prior similar acts" prong. cr 

	

18 	Next, Plaintiffs' Opposition alleges NYNY failed to take responsible precautions to 

	

19 	ensure the safety of its guests. Again, it simply reiterates the previous argument set forth in 

	

20 	Plaintiffs' original Motion. Specifically, Plaintiffs misrepresent the amount of security personnel 

	

21 	on the casino floor on the evening of the attack. Again, NYNY had three security personnel on 

	

22 	the immediate  casino floor. However, 17-20 additional security officers were on duty that 

23 evening, as well as multiple security managers, and two Metropolitan Police Department 

	

24 	Officers. See Def. Opp. and Countermotion at p. 7. Plaintiffs further allege the initial 

25 responding Officer stood back and watched the physical altercation occur; however, as 

	

26 	previously addressed, this individual Officer was acting in accordance with the policies and 

27 procedures in place at NYNY as well the proper observe and reporting standards in the industry. 

	

28 	Id. As such, Plaintiffs' arguments mischaracterize the facts. 

Page 3 of 6 
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1 	Plaintiffs also allege the attack could have been limited with additional security 

	

2 	personnel. However, this is not the standard in Nevada. It follows that extra security on any 

3 premises would reasonably limit any potential attacks to persons on the premises. Nonetheless, 

4 the legal standard requires basic minimum precautions, not "perfect" or "optimum" precautions. 

5 NYNY has satisfied this requirement. Lastly, Plaintiffs' Opposition alleges the actions by 

6 Ferrell were not a superseding, intervening cause cutting off NYNY's liability. Plaintiffs must 

7 establish the acts or omissions of NYNY were the proximate cause of the injuries inflicted by 

	

8 	Ferrell to prevail on their claim for negligence. The acts committed by Ferrell were 

9 unforeseeable and unanticipated. Moreover, Plaintiffs conveniently leave out the fact Plaintiff 

10 Humphries' initial criminal conduct of spitting or making a spitting-type gesture toward Ferrell 

	

11 	instigated the entire altercation. Notwithstanding, NYNY had no basis to anticipate Plaintiff 

12 Humphries would act as she did, nor Ferrell would respond as he did. As such, NYNY was not 

	

13 	the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' injuries. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear this Honorable Court, and not a jury, must decide 

whether NYNIY owed a duty. As Ferrell's retaliatory attack was sudden and unpredictable. 

NYNY did not owe the Plaintiff a duty. Specifically, no duty exists because no prior similar acts 

had ever occurred, and NYNY had implemented the basic minimum requirements by properly 

staffing security and responding to the incident in a timely fashion. Not only did NYNY not owe 

Plaintiff a duty, but NYNY could not have been the proximate cause of Plaintiffs injuries 

because the criminal act of Ferrell is a superseding, intervening act which cuts off any potential 

hi 

14 

25 
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1 	liability. Therefore, Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment fails, and NYNY respectfully 

2 requests that this Honorable Court grant its Countermotion Motion for Summary Judgment. 
3 	

DATED this  XVI   day of January, 2014. 
4 
	

KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
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MARTIN J. KRAVITZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KR1STOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 
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1 	 CERTIFIC 

1 HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 

E OF SERVICE 

'ay of January, 2014, 1 served a true and correct copy 

3 of the foregoing DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS COUNTER MOTION 

4 FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  by electronic mail and by placing the same in a sealed 

5 	envelope and mailing via U.S. Postal Service, first class, postage fully prepaid, upon thereon to: 

Craig W. Drummond, Esq. 
CRAIG W. DRUMMOND, P.c. 
228 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorney for Plaintiffs CAREY 
HUMPHI?IES and LORENZO 
ROCHA, III 

Joshua L. Tomsheck, Esq. 
HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
228 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs CAREY 
HUMPHRIES and LORENZO 
ROCHA, III 
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9. The physical altercation was a spontaneous and unpredictable incident in which New 

York-New York could not have anticipated. 

10. Plaintiffs have not met the burden of establishing a lack of due care on the part of 

New York-New York security, as they did not provide any evidence demonstrating 

the third party assailant's conduct prior to the subject incident provided New York-

New York security the requisite foreseeability of the resultant altercation. 

11. Under the analysis set forth in the Estate of Smith, the instant altercation was not 

foreseeable, and New York-New York exercised due care. Estate of Smith v. 

Mahoney 's Silver Nugget, Inc., 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011). 

12. Plaintiffs have failed to set forth specific facts establishing a genuine issue of material 

fact to be resolved at trial, so summary judgment in favor of Defendant New York-

New York is appropriate. 

JUDGMENT  

Wherefore, based upon the foregoing Windings of fact and conclusions of law, this court 

hereby orders as follows: 

IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED, that Plaintiffs Motion for 

Summary Judgment is DENIED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendant New 

York-New York's Countermotion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that judgment be 

entered in favor of Defendant New York-New York and against Plaintiffs. 
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IT IS FURT1HER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this is a final 

judgment pursuant to an NRCP 54(B) . 

DATED this  1-1  day of  /14 'A:2014_ 
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The  e Honorable Michael P. Villani iidge 
District Court, Department XVII 
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9. The physical altercation was a spontaneous and unpredictable incident in which New 

York-New York could not have anticipated. 

10. Plaintiffs have not met the burden of establishing a lack of due care on the part of 

New York-New York security, as they did not provide any evidence demonstrating 

the third party assailant's conduct prior to the subject incident provided New York-

New York security the requisite foreseeability of the resultant altercation. 

11. Under the analysis set forth in the Estate of Smith, the instant altercation was not 

foreseeable, and New York-New York exercised due care. Estate of Smith v. 

Mahoney 's Silver Nugget, Inc., 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011). 

12. Plaintiffs have failed to set forth specific facts establishing a genuine issue of material 

fact to be resolved at trial, so summary judgment in favor of Defendant New York-

New York is appropriate. 

JUDGMENT  

Wherefore, based upon the foregoing Windings of fact and conclusions of law, this court 

hereby orders as follows: 

IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED, that Plaintiffs Motion for 

Summary Judgment is DENIED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendant New 

York-New York's Countermotion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that judgment be 

entered in favor of Defendant New York-New York and against Plaintiffs. 
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IT IS FURT1HER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this is a final 

judgment pursuant to an NRCP 54(B) . 

DATED this  1-1  day of  /14 'A:2014_ 
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The  e Honorable Michael P. Villani iidge 
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 29, 2014 

[Proceeding commenced at 8:29 a.m.] 

THE COURT: All right. And this is on for a motion for 

summary judgment and counter motion for summary judgment. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Yes, Your Honor. Craig Drummond appearing on 

behalf of the Plaintiffs. Mr. Tomsheck is actually next door. He 

will be joining us -- 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. DRUMMOND: -- when he steps in. He is my co-counsel o; 

the case. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Good morning, Your Honor. Kristopher 

Zeppenfeld on behalf of Defendant, New York-New York. 

THE COURT: Let's take Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment 

first. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Your Honor, we have outlined it and I'm sure 

you've had a chance to review it. Essentially, what we've done in 

this case is we took the 30(b)(6) deposition. We took the 

deposition of the corporation to find out what the corporation's 

position is on the case. And during that deposition, they admitted 

to all of the elements of negligence. They've admitted to every 

single one of them, and they were unobjected to. 

And as we've outlined pursuant to the NRCP rules, if they 

don't object to something it would be deemed a proper question. 
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Questions like, was it foreseeable; answer, yes. Questions like, 

how many fights did you have previously on the casino floor; the 

answer is two to three a week. Clearly outlining any legal 

standard of being foreseeable. 

We ask those questions of their corporate designee 

essentially, the representative of the corporation. They were 

unobjected to and they've admitted every single element. 

Therefore, this case does not need to go to trial on any other 

question by damages because they've admitted to everything. 

And I know they filed a counter motion I believe for 

summary judgment. Essentially, our position is, of course, that 

it's understanding that we probably have some merit on our motion 

so therefore, they're coming at us. But if you look at the 

standard, the standard was there any sort of similar related acts. 

And we have an admission by a corporation, not by counsel, but by a 

corporation who's deemed to represent the corporation's interests, 

to represent the corporation's position that there were two to 

three fights a week. And that's exactly what we have in this 

situation is we have the two to three fights a week and we have a 

fight in this case that goes on for seventeen seconds where some 

substitute teacher in California is badly beaten. 

We have -- it's our position we have met the burden. 

These were all unobjected to and if counsel today is going to say, 

well, we object to questions like foreseeability, well we could 

have rephrased them at the deposition, but there was not one 
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objection to any of the questions we've outlined. And therefore, 

we would request that Your Honor find summary judgment for purposes 

of liability and we go to trial specifically on the question of 

damages. 

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Zeppenfeld, did you admit 

negligence? That's what I'm hearing from the -- 

MR. ZEPPENEELD: Well, Your Honor, no, we did not. And here', 

why. As set forth in our moving papers, you know, it's our 

position that Plaintiff's request for summary judgment be denied 

because they can't establish the necessary elements of their 

negligence claim. 

Now, the controlling law in this matter is well, 

Plaintiff's didn't touch on it in argument, but in their briefing 

as well as us. And as the Court knows is Estate of Smith which 

sheds some light on the interpretation of the Innkeeper statute in 

Nevada; that's NRS 651.015. What that statute does is govern the 

civil liability of -- of hotel owners for the injuries of persons 

on the premises as a result of a third party. When it looks at 

what -- if a duty is established, it will get two things, the 

foreseeability and they would get the preponderance of the 

evidence. So we can start with the foreseeability. 

Plaintiffs have argued that our corporate designee, Mi 

Glen Nulle, admitted that it is foreseeable, that this incident 

could have happened and that two to three fights per week occur. 

And we've addressed that in both our counter motion and in our 

Carey Humphries and Lorenzo Rocha, III v. New York-New York Hotel & Casino 
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reply brief. They're trying to circumvent the -- the proper 

analysis under the Estate of Smith,  the foreseeability which is 

look at evidence of prior similar acts and look at the totality of 

the circumstances. 

Prior similar acts, they have not provided any evidence 

that prior similar acts similar to the one that occurred in this -- 

in this instance had happened in the past. In fact, we provided 

several security reports and incident reports related to potential 

assaults and batteries. Not one of them were similar in any way, 

shape or form to what has happened in this case. 

And I'll remind you that this case is regarded -- 

involves Plaintiff actually making a spitting-type gesture or 

spitting on this third party assailant which then turns into a 

physical altercation which was resolved in seventeen seconds. 

Mr. Nulle, he testified as to foreseeability. Of course, 

it's foreseeable. The crime could occur on the premises. That's 

exactly what the Innkeeper statute was drafted for because an 

Innkeeper shouldn't be -- shouldn't bear the burden of shielding 

patrons from every single potential instance of crime that can 

occur on the premises. 

There's more of an analysis to that than just did -- Is 

it foreseeable that this could have happened? Well, yes, I suppose 

i t is. And that was the testimony that they're relying on. It 

wasn't in a legal sense or negligence analysis sense, it was common 

par lines. Of course, it's foreseeable. But in a legal sense, 
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there's more analysis than just saying what he says it is, so there 

must be. No. It's not -- it's not as simple as that. 

The two to three weeks, again, Plaintiffs didn't go any 

further to find out what the two to three fights per week, what 

circumstances were, who the parties were, the location, the 

severity of the injury and any sort of thing that would -- that 

would add up to a prior similar act similar to the one we have 

here. 

Again, we have an instance here where the Plaintiff made 

-- committed an assault by either spitting on or making a spitting-

type gesture toward the assailant. The assailant then retaliates. 

The physical altercation takes place, security and Metropolitan 

Police Department comes separate the parties, detained the third 

party assailant. 

The two to three fights per week that Mr. Nulle testified 

to, Plaintiff's counsel didn't question any further. Like I said, 

we have no idea what the two to three fights per week are and 

that's part of the analysis we need to know. What we've done is 

provide the Court again with records of previous prior similar 

instances that could potentially be similar, but they're not. 

As we stated in our briefs, most of the instances involve 

patrons getting violent with security after they're trying to be 

escorted off the property or domestic disputes in the hotel rooms 

and the guest rooms. That's no way -- it's no way similar to what 

we have here. 

6 

Carey Humphries and Lorenzo Rocha, III v. New York-New York Hotel & Casino 
A-11-641181-C 	 0296 



Next, we look at the totality of the circumstances and 

that looks at the basic minimum precautions. Did the property take 

the basic minimum precautions to ensure the safety of its patrons? 

And we would argue, yes, we did. We had approximately seventeen to 

twenty security officers on duty that evening. We had various 

security supervisors in management positions. We also had two Las 

Vegas Metropolitan Police Officers on -- on the -- on site. 

There's no evidence suggesting -- additionally, there was 

no evidence suggesting that New York-New York should have known 

that the third party assailant, Eric Ferrell, would behave in the 

manner he did in such a short amount of time. There's nothing he 

did prior throughout the evening that would suggest to New York-New 

York or put them on notice that he has these dangerous 

propensities. And furthermore, there was nothing to suggest that 

New York-New York would be on notice that Plaintiff would instigate 

the -- the incident by spitting or making a spitting-type gesture 

toward him. 

As such, it's -- it doesn't seem reasonable that New 

York-New York would be apprised of any potential danger presented 

by either parties prior to the actual incident itself. 

Again, basic minimum precautions were taken. The case 

law says it's not perfect or maximum security. Its basic minimum 

precautions. New York-New York had no prior notice to the act. 

Again, we staffed the -- or proper amount of officers. We employed 

the basic minimum precautions. 
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And the interesting thing is in -- in Plaintiff's motion, 

they argue that New York-New York fell below the standard staffing 

levels of -- of a casino this size. Well, they don't have any 

proof to back it up and the reason is is because there's not a 

standard. And that was actually conceded by their own expert and 

their expert report which we -- which we mention in the footnote. 

There's not a standard of care for the level of staffing levels in 

a casino. 

What you do is you can put a reasonable number of -- of 

staffing, of security officers based upon, you know, foot traffic, 

time of year, weekend, time -- you know, time of -- time of the 

week, time of day; and that gives you a reasonable analysis of how 

many should staff which is what we did and what Glen Nulle 

testified to at his deposition. 

So, I mean, our opposition to their motion for summary 

judgment is -- the arguments contained, the arguments I've just 

presented are the same reason why we believe summary judgment 

should go in our favor 'cause there are no genuine issues of 

material fact as to the Plaintiff's claim. There was no -- ther 

was no duty under Estate of Smith and under the Innkeeper's 

statute. And if there is a duty, there certainly was no breach 

because we employed basic minimum precautions and we took any -- 

any reasonable precautions to -- in the interest of patron safety. 

THE COURT: As you know, Plaintiff complains -- excuse me, Mu. 

Zeppenfeld, Plaintiff complains that your security officer when he 
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arrived on the scene basically watched the fight for a period of 

time. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Well -- 

THE COURT: Can you just further address that? It's in youi 

brief, but if you can further address that. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Sure, Your Honor, Basically, what happened 

was when the fight first began after the spitting and the initial, 

I think, punch or push, we had one security officer, Officer 

Stensland, arrive on the scene. You can see him on the video. 

He's radioing to dispatch and to, you know, the airwaves saying, 

look, we got something going on here. It's New York-New York 

security protocol that an officer should not be involved in a 

physical altercation when he's outnumbered. 

And it wasn't just Ms. Humphries and Mr. Ferrell that 

were involved. There were a group of people going back and forth 

in fisticuffs if you will. So he employed the proper procedure 

that's set forth in the New York-New York standard operating 

procedure handbook. Our expert has said that that's exactly how 

you're supposed to handle a situation like that is observe a 

report. 

Again, our security officers are unarmed. So you have 

one gentleman versus, you know, five to six people getting 

involved. He needs to wait 'til proper back up arrives before he 

can take physical action. But as it -- as it -- it wasn't just 

that he was sitting there watching this take place, hers radioing, 
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doing everything he can to make sure security arrived in a prompt 

fashion which they did along with Metropolitan Police Department 

officers. 

THE COURT: All the individuals that were involved in the 

fight, were they affiliated with the two groups of people or did 

they just sort of break out and then people were shoving one 

another and then like new fights broke up -- 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Yeah. 

THE COURT: -- broke out. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: I think it was more of the latter, Your 

Honor. We -- we -- security detained two individuals, Mr. Ferrell, 

and then another man who I don't remember who he was. They -- I 

think subsequently the other man was released, but the fight 

involved -- there were -- you know, there were two Plaintiffs, Ms. 

Humphries, Mr. Roche, Mr. Ferrell, the unknown gentleman that was 

also detained and there were also a couple of other things going on 

on top of, you know, security eventually arriving, so. 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: But definitely more than -- than one officer 

who originally arrived on scene first. 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

Mr. Drummond, on -- you had mentioned that through 

deposition testimony and perhaps written discovery that the hotel 

that experienced two to three or three to five fights per week, do 

I just look at just the general fights occurring on the premises or 
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do I look at whether or not New York-New York had knowledge that 

the -- one of the Defendants in this case had been causing problems 

on the property, was drunk, or something along those lines? 

MR. DRUMMOND: I think, Your Honor, what you look at is was it 

foreseeable that fights would happen on the casino floor and did we 

exercise reasonable precautions and take reasonable steps to 

protect against that. And it's unfortunately a misstatement of the 

record for counsel to state that we didn't ask the question where 

did the fights happen because the question is we outlined it in our 

brief is this, how many fights have occurred on the casino floor in 

New York-New York in 2010? I don't have a number. Can you give us 

your best estimate, one a month? I wish. Can you please elaborate 

for us, sir? I would say two to three a week. 

So what we do have then is we have foreseeability that 

fights are going to happen on the casino floor. And then we ask 

questions to this individual who again is the corporation for 

purposes of this case and for purposes of the deposition, this is 

New York-New York's response. It's not just their person most 

knowledgeable. This is their corporate designee. This is New 

York-New York's position. I asked, do you know how many security 

personnel are necessary for your casino floor to ensure the 

premises are safe for patrons? I don't have a number. No. 

And then in prior testimony as we've outlined in our 

brief which I'm sure Your Honor has taken a look at, they only have 

three on an eighty-five thousand square foot casino where they have 
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a history of two to three fights a week. And unfortunately, 

defense wants to argue that well, we don't have written 

documentation so it's not evidence. That's not the standard. If 

the -- if the corporation wants to testify under oath that two to 

three fights a week have happened, that is evidence. That is an 

admission by a party opponent. That's exactly what they've done 

here. They've admitted that these things have happened prior. 

They've admitted that it was foreseeable. They've admitted that if 

they had more security personnel that it could have been prevented. 

They've admitted that they don't have any idea how many people they 

need to make this safe. 

And the seventeen seconds which is I think Your Honor 

pointed out a second ago, it's very important because this didn't 

happen in a corner. This didn't happen at a bathroom stall. Thic, 

happened in the casino walkway right by a bar in the middle of 

tables, gaming and the security personnel, he responded and he 

stood there. 

And they also testified under oath that they also do have 

armed security personnel. So it surprises me to hear that defense 

counsel state that some of their personnel are not armed. They had 

a number of personnel there who essentially let this lady get 

attacked. And I think we all know that if they would have grabbed 

a five hundred dollar casino chip off of that table, how quickly 

that person would have been subdued. 

I think we all know the reality of it. And the reality 
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though is we have a woman who is a substitute teacher from 

California staying here, who is viciously attacked and the 

arguments of about well she spit in his face. No. The evidence is 

she was confronted and she made a spitting motion like an old lady 

would to please get out of my face. And at that point in time, she 

was attacked. She was attacked so bad that she needed emergency 

aid. 

And we're simply asking to proceed forward with the case, 

one. But they've also admitted liability, so that's why we are 

here asking for summary judgment, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Is there any expert opinion that's been presented 

stating what the standard of care is as far as the number of 

security officers where the casino floor or you have so many square 

footage at a casino space, how many security officers are you 

supposed to have to meet the standard of care? Has that come out 

through discovery? 

MR. DRUMMOND: I don't believe -- we have not deposed their 

expert because frankly I don't want to spend five thousand dollars 

for a deposition of an expert which I have a good idea that he is 

going to say he doesn't agree with me. But I would also say that 

they should have an idea. And if the corporation, this massive 

multi-million dollar corporation has no idea which is what their 

corporate designee said which is what their corporation says they 

say they have no idea, that's a problem. And our expert said that 

they did not have sufficient amount of security to reasonably 
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control the premises. And that is -- that has been under oath and 

our expert is a highly qualified expert involving night clubs, 

security, things of that nature. So, that evidence has been 

brought out. 

I haven't seen anything that they've actually provided -- 

that the defense has actually provided to counter that and 

especially when the corporation itself admits that they have no 

idea and that's the issue. 

So we would ask for summary judgment on our case. But if 

Your Honor is even considering granting summary judgment for them, 

would say that they've already admitted that there's two to three 

fights a week on the casino floor and that's exactly what we have 

here. 

The fact that Susie said one thing or Johnny said one 

thing, I don't think we have to get that specific to say well, they 

weren't aware that somebody would confront her and she would make a 

spitting gesture. No. The fact is they have to have personnel out 

there because we have people coming into this corporation who's 

profiting off of their presence. And that fact when we also 

counter that with what we have prior notice of these fights, does 

give foreseeability. And they've also admitted the word 

foreseeability. Not defense counsel, but the corporation. 

THE COURT: On the -- I had a question for you. Just so I'm 

clear, and I understand you're saying that due to the number of 

fights on the floor, the size of the casino floor area that 
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whatever security guards they had was insufficient. And I've got 

that and I'm going to look at that in my analysis. 

Is there any information on your part that Mr. Ferrell 

had previous problems in a casino area that he was drunk, you know, 

had pushed other people -- 

MR. DRUMMOND: I don't think -- 

THE COURT: -- other patrons? 

MR. DRUMMOND: Two things, Your Honor. One, we don't have any 

information of that and I'm not going to pretend that we have that. 

But I will also state though that when the Supreme Court looked at 

this case and looked at the issue of third party liability in the 

sense of Mr. Ferrell, that was not something that was even 

addressed by the Court. The Court came down and gave us a very 

clear in their Supreme Court decision which was published as Your 

Honor knows -- 

THE COURT: Right. 

MR. DRUMMOND: -- gave us a very clear understanding of how we 

let a jury analyze that question. And so if there is a question 

on, you know, well -- you know, there was third party tort 

liability,it's interesting that we now have defense raising that 

when the Supreme Court already looked at this case, already looked 

at all the facts of this case and gave us an example of how to deal 

with third party tort liability. 

Now, they didn't address the summary judgment issue that 

we've raised because of the admissions by the corporation. But 
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they did give us that, so it does seem odd to me that we don't have 

a law, the case issue here where the Supreme Court has already 

said, hey, listen, in this situation which they've talked about 

this case, this is how you address third party tort liability. And 

so now we have some new arguments being raised here regarding 

foreseeability which were never raised to the Supreme Court when 

they gave us a specific guideline in this matter on how to take ii 

to a jury. 

THE COURT: 'Cause you know we have two -- we have competing 

motion for summary judgment. I'm interpreting this to be your 

rebuttal argument to your motion. So I'm going to let Mr. 

Zeppenfeld 'cause he has the competing motion for summary; do you 

have anything to add as a rebuttal argument on your motion? 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Well, just a couple of things. It's 

interesting that Mr. Drummond brings up the Supreme Court issue 

because at the actual oral argument, they ask Mx. Kravitz who's 

arguing on New York-New York's behalf, why didn't you just bring 

this case for summary judgment on Estate of Smith. So I think that 

suggests that it's -- we do have legitimate basis for requesting 

summary judgment at this juncture. 

The prior similar instances, again, a two to three fights 

per week happening on the casino floor, that's not enough to 

satisfy the analysis. It's -- as -- as we've already established, 

it's eighty-five thousand square foot casino floor. This instance 

-- this matter here took place on one part of that floor and we 
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don't know where the two to three other fights have occurred or 

Plaintiff can't tell is where they've occurred and they don't want 

to tell us where they occurred because they aren't similar to what 

has happened in this case. 

So the analysis has to he the prior similar acts r  what 

were the circumstances, parties involved, location, time, injuries 

and none of that is similar to what we have here. 

As it relates to the staffing, again, we've already -- 

we've talked about -- there's not an industry standard. Their -- 

their expert has admitted that. Our expert report says that 

based on different variables such as again, time of the week, time 

of the day, level of foot traffic, were there events going on was 

it a weekend; that kind of thing. 

So, again, we've made our arguments pretty clear. I 

don't there are -- their motion has merit. I do believe that we 

are entitled to -- to summary judgment. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Your Honor, I would just say that Mr. Kravitz - 

THE COURT: Very briefly. Very briefly. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Very briefly. 

THE COURT: And I'm not -- 

MR. DRUMMOND: I was present at the Supreme Court argument, so 

THE COURT: -- I'm not -- I'm not using that as evidence what 

was argued or not, argued before the Supreme Court, so. 
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MR. ZEPPENFELD: Well, right. I just wanted to raise that. 

MR. DRUMMOND: So was Mr. Tomsheck -- I don't believe even 

counsel was actually present and what -- there was a sua sponte 

statement by defense that they planned on bringing a motion under 

it, but it was never even briefed or addressed by the Supreme 

Court. And I think what's important, Your Honor, if you'd look at 

Estate v. Smith,  one we do have the prior similar acts. It's a 

fight on the casino floor period, two to three a week. But they 

also even said, regardless of whether -- 

THE COURT: Counsel, you're going beyond your rebuttal. You 

had your turn. Mr. Zeppenfeld has had his. We're done here. You 

have two motions for summary judgment, somewhat similar issues 

here. What I'm going to do is, I'm going to prepare a written 

decision on this case. You'll have it on or before next Wednesday. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Understand, Your Honor. 

MR. ZEPPENFELD: Okay. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. DRUMMOND: Thank you. 

[Proceeding concluded at 8:52 a.m.] 

* * 	* 
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CAREY HUMPHRIES, an individual and 
LORENZO ROCHA III, an individual; 
 
 Appellants, 
 
vs.  
 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & 
CASINO, a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company, d/b/a NEW YORK-NEW YORK 
HOTEL & CASINO; DOES I-V; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS, inclusive, 
 

Respondent. 
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) 
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) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
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MARTIN J. KRAVITZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KRISTOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Telephone: 	(702) 362-6666 
Facsimile: 	(702) 362-2203 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 

CLERK OF THE COURT 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

10 

11 

13 

CAREY HUMPHRIES, an individual, and 
LORENZO ROCHA, III, an individual, 

Plaintiffs, 
VS. 

NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & 
CASINO, a Nevada Limited Liabilit y  
Company, d/b/a NEW YORK-NEW YORK 
HOTEL & CASINO, DOES I-V, and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I-V, inclusive. 

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-1 1-641181-C 
Dept. No.: XVII 

OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND 

COUNTER MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
18 

19 
	COMES NOW, Defendant, NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL & CASINO ("NYNY"), 

20 b
y  and through its counsel of record, the law firm of Kravitz, Schnitzer & Johnson, Chtd. and 

21 
	hereby  files its Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summar y  Judgment and Counter Motion for 

22 Summary  Judgment. 

23 
	This opposition and counter motion is based upon the points and authorities enclosed 

24 herein, exhibits attached hereto, and any  oral arguments entertained by  the Court at the time of 

25 
\\\ 

26 

27 
\\\ 

28 

8 

9 
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hearing on this matter. 

DATED this  te-0  day of December, 2013. 

MARTIN J. KRAVUZ ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KRISTOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Telephone: 	(702) 362-6666 
Facsimile: 	(702) 362-2203 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

12 L 	INTRODUCTION 

This Honorable Court should deny Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment 

("Plaintiff s Motion") as it completely misinterprets and mischaracterizes the legal authority 

governing the foreseeability analysis in a negligence matter. Plaintiffs' Motion is a transparent 

16 ploy to keep a jury from hearing Plaintiff Humphries instigated this fight. The incident would 

not have occurred but for Plaintiff Humphries' assault on a third-party patron. Plaintiffs rely 

18 
	solely upon incomplete and inadmissible excerpts of deposition testimony in support of their 

19 Motion. Moreover, Plaintiffs ignore the evidence on the record demonstrating NYNY fulfilled 

20 
	any and all security obligations as it relates to an analysis of negligence liability. 

21 

	

	
Plaintiffs' "factual basis" supporting their request for summary judgment is merely a 

string of conclusory statements premised upon incomplete and inaccurate citations to deposition 

23 testimony which exceeds the scope of lay witness opinion, and does not demonstrate NYNY was 

24 
	negligent. Plaintiffs fail to apply the proper negligence analysis to this matter, because doing so 

25 
	demonstrates the exact opposite of their position. Plaintiffs' attempt to ignore the proper legal 

26 
	analysis and instead rely solely upon lay opinion testimony is an affront to this Court and a 

28 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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1 	perversion of the case of Estate of Smith. Plaintiffs ignore the fact that duty and foreseeability 

	

2 	are judicial determinations. Therefore, this Court should deny Plaintiffs' Motion. 

	

3 	Nev. Rev. Stat. § 651.015 et seq specifically shields innkeepers from criminal conduct of 

	

4 	third-parties without a select showing that the hotel had notice of the actual criminal threat. 

5 Furthermore, it requires Courts to determine as a matter of law whether the criminal act was 

	

6 	foreseeable and if the innkeeper had a duty to protect against this particular criminal act. 

	

7 	Legislative history of this statute clearly shows Nevada case precedent dealing with 

	

8 	foreseeability has been drastically altered. Pursuant to Estate of Smith v Mahoney 's Silver 

9 Nugget, Inc., 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011), the Nevada Supreme Court set forth a two-part test 

	

10 	which, applied to the facts of this case, requires this Court to find no duty or breach as a matter 

	

11 	of law. 

	

12 	Plaintiffs cannot show the requisite factual predicate to impose duty under MRS 651.015- 

	

13 	that NYNY was even remotely aware that Plaintiffs would be attacked by a third-party. 

14 Moreover, Plaintiffs cannot demonstrate NYNY was aware Plaintiff Humphries would spit on 

	

15 	the third-party, triggering the events of the underlying incident. Moreover, the record 

16 demonstrates no evidence of prior similar happenings exists that would warrant the imposition of 

	

17 	a duty. Thus, Defendant is entitled to summary judgment as it relates to Plaintiffs negligence 

	

18 	claims. 

19 11. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

	

20 
	

A. 	Statement of Facts 

	

21 	On or about April 10, 2010, Plaintiffs were patrons of the NYNY located at 3790 South 

22 Las Vegas Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109. See Complaint at 115. Plaintiffs were involved 

	

23 	in an unpredictable and spontaneous altercation on the casino floor between pit 2 and 3 with a 

	

24 	third-party patron, identified as Eric Ferrell ("Ferrell"). 

	

25 	According to deposition testimony by the Plaintiffs, as well as surveillance video of the 

	

26 	incident, Plaintiff Humphries initiated conversation with a female patron associated with Ferrell. 

27 After a few moments, Ferrell allegedly made lewd comments to Plaintiff Humphries. Plaintiff 

28 
Estate of Smith is the preeminent case in this area. The change in the law was handled by the undersigned. 
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1 Humphries did not inform NYNY security of Ferrell's lewd conduct, nor did she walk away 

2 	from Ferrell after he made his comments. Instead, Plaintiff Humphries criminally assaulted2  

3 	Ferrell by making a "spitting type gesture" toward him causing Ferrell to retaliate and the 

4 	physical altercation to erupt. 3  Ferrell is not now, nor has ever been, an agent or employee of 

5 NYNY_ Plaintiffs claim they were injured in the fight and required medical care and treatment. 

6 	Compl. at ¶7. 

7 	Security officers and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officer (present in the 

8 	hotel) responded to the altercation in less than seventeen (17) seconds and were able to separate 

9 	Ferrell from Plaintiffs. Security officers then transported Plaintiffs to Spring Valley Hospital. 

10 Subsequently, security officers and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officers detained 

11 	Ferrell and, after questioning him, arrested him for battery with substantial bodily harm. He was 

12 subsequently adjudged guilty one count of attempted battery, substantial bodily harm (felony) 

13 	and was ordered to serve five years of probation as well as pay $24,040.12 in restitution.4  See 

14 Minute Order from C-10-267224-1 dated February 28, 2011 (attached hereto as Exhibit A). 

15 	B. 	Statement of Procedure 
al CA 

LT.1 

	

.) > 16 	On May 12, 2011, Plaintiffs filed a complaint in the Eighth Judicial Court alleging three 
kr> oa co 

	

17 	causes of action: (1) negligence; (2) negligent hiring, training, supervision, and retention; and (3) 

18 intentional misrepresentation. 5  See generally CompI. The matter was stayed before this Court on 

19 or before October 5, 2012 as Plaintiff filed a Writ of Mandamus before the Nevada Supreme 

20 Court related to this Court's ruling on Defendant's Motion to Compel Plaintiffs to Join 

	

21 	Necessary Party. On or about November 7, 2013, the Supreme Court issued the Plaintiffs' writ 

	

22 	reversing this Court's ruling and lifting stay. 

23 

24 

25 
2  Assault under N.R.S. §200.471 is unlawfully attempting to use physical force against another person, or 

	

26 	intentionally placing another person in reasonable apprehension of immediate bodily harm. Nev. Rev. State. 
§200.471(1)(1)-(2). Police authorities routinely charge spitters with assault and battery because of bacterial and 

	

27 	viral dangers (such as AIDS). 
3  Witness statements as well as detention room surveillance suggests Plaintiff Humphries spat on Ferrell 

	

28 	'Defendant has moved to add Ferrell as a third-party defendant. 
s  This claim was dismissed earlier by the Court. 
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I III. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS 

2 	As required by Rule 56, Defendant provides a concise statement setting forth each fact 

3 	according to the position of the motion Defendant claim is not genuinely at issue, with citations 

4 	to a particular portion of a pleading, affidavit, deposition, interrogatory, answer, admission, or 

5 	evidence upon which Defendant relies. Nev. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (2005). 

6 
	

1. 	On or about April 10, 2010, Plaintiffs were patrons in the NYNY Hotel & Casino, 

7 
	

located at 3970 South Las Vegas Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109. See 

8 
	

Cornpl_ at $5. 

9 
	

2. 	Plaintiffs were involved in an altercation on the casino floor between pit 2 and 3 

10 
	 with a third-party patron identified as Eric Ferrell ("Ferrell"). See NYNY Incident 

11 
	

Report, attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

3. 	Plaintiff Humphries spat or made a "spitting type gesture-  in the direction of 

Ferrell, triggering the ensuing altercation between Plaintiffs and Ferrell. See 

Rebuttal Report of Tommy J. Burns attached hereto as Exhibit C, see also, 

Plaintiff Humphries' Responses to Interrogatories attached hereto as Exhibit D; 

16 

	

	 see also, Deposition Transcript of Carey Humphries at 99:23, attached hereto as 

Exhibit E. 

18 
	

4. 	Ferrell is not now, nor has he ever been an agent or employee of Defendant. 

19 
	

5. 	Plaintiffs claimed they were injured in the fight and required medical care and 

'70 	 treatment. See Compl. at $7. 

21 
	

6. 	Security officers responded to the altercation in less than seventeen (17) seconds 

22 
	

to separate Ferrell from the Plaintiffs. 

3 	7. 	Security officers transported Plaintiffs to Spring Valley Hospital. See Ex. B. 

24 
	

8. 	Security officers and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officers detained 

25 
	

Ferrell after questioning him, arresting him for battery, substantial harm. Id. 

26 

27 

28 
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1 IV. OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT/COUNTERMOTION 

2 	FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

3 	Plaintiffs' Motion omits key facts related to the underlying incident. It also misinterprets 

4 	the legal authority and analysis as it relates to negligence liability. Plaintiffs' Motion relies upon 

5 	an erroneous interpretation of Estate of Smith, and it attempts to apply its fallacious 

6 	interpretation to a set of "facts" which are incomplete and untrue. 

A. 	Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs' "Undisputed Facts" Concerning Glen  
Nulle 

Plaintiffs' Motion alleges NYNY's "failure to provide adequate and reasonable security 

played a substantial factor in bringing about the injury and damages to Plaintiffs." See Motion at 

3:16-17. In support of Plaintiffs' allegations, the Motion relies singularly upon deposition 

testimony of NYNY's PMK of Security, Glen Nulle ("Mr. Nulle"). Based upon excerpts of Mr. 

Nulle's deposition testimony elicited by Plaintiffs' counsel, Plaintiffs allege the following are 

undisputed facts this Court should consider for the purposes of summary judgment: 

1. The attack on Plaintiffs occurred on Defendant's casino floor near a nightclub and a 

bar; 

2. Approximately two to three fights occurred on the casino floor alone; 

3. It was foreseeable future fights would occur on the casino floor, 

4. The casino floor was approximately 85,000 square feet in size; 

5. There were "only" three security guards assigned to the casino floor; 

6. Defendant had no idea how many security guards were needed to keep the casino 

floor in a safe condition for patrons; and 

7. There were more guards than the attack[ers], or at least the extent of the attack and 

injury, was preventable. 

Id. at pg. 4. 

The first deposition excerpt Plaintiffs address is Mr. Nulle's testimony acknowledging 

only one security officer initially responded to the subject incident, and that upon arriving to the 

scene, the lone officer stood back and watched. See Plaintiffs' Mot. at 4. Plaintiffs would have 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

14 

15 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

-)3 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 	this Court believe the officer's conduct falls below the standard of care, and is thus dispositive of 

2 NYNY's negligence. This could not be further from the truth. Curiously absent from the 

	

3 	Motion is Mr. Nulle's testimony as to the NYNY security policy  relating to physical altercations, 

4 and that the officer performed his duties in a 'textbook" manner. Mr. Nulle elaborated on the 

	

5 	officer's conduct, saying "I saw [the officer] what appeared to be calling in on his radio.. then it 

6 appeared that he stood back until he had his proper backup before he got involved."  See 

7 Deposition Transcript of Glenn Nulle, attached hereto as Exhibit F, at 23:25-24:4 (emphasis 

	

8 	added). Mr. Nulle continued, "[the officer] was calling in the incident and he was doing what he  

9 has been trained to do and not get involved until you have proper backup.  He was looking at 

	

10 	scene safety_ He was looking at his personal safety. And that's the way they are trained. To me 

	

11 	this is textbook." Id (emphasis added). 

	

12 	The first officer to the scene of the incident was outnumbered  by the parties involved, and 

	

13 	followed the established security protocol of "Observe and Report Methodology," a practice 

14 common and consistent in most of the security and hotel-gaming industry.6  See, Ex. C, at p_10. 

	

15 	Moreover, as soon as adequate backup arrived to the incident (in less than 17 seconds), the 

16 officer properly engaged and assisted in apprehending Ferrell and pulling Plaintiff Rocha from 

	

17 	the fight. Thus, Plaintiffs' attempt to couch the initial responding officer's conduct as anything 

	

18 	but proper is misleading and lacks merit. 

	

19 	Next, Plaintiffs attempt to equate Mr. Nulle's testimony relating to "industry standards" 

	

20 	of security staffing to an admission of foreseeability. Moreover, Plaintiffs rnischaracterize the 

	

21 	number of security officers present at the time of the incident. Plaintiffs focus only on the fact 

	

22 	Mr. Nulle testified three officers were assigned posts on the casino floor; however, Plaintiffs 

	

23 	completely ignore Mr. Nulle's further testimony that approximately 17-20 security officers were 

24 on duty on the date of the incident, as well as two Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 

	

25 	Officers and multiple NYNY security supervisors.  See generally Ex. F at 25:3-5; 26:12-21; 

26 

27 

	

28 	6  Plaintiff Humphries and Mr. Ferrell were not the only patties involved in the altercation. At least three other 
individuals, including Plaintiff Rocha, were involved, outnumbering the one security officer. 
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1 	28:5-7. In what has become a pattern in Plaintiff' Motion, Plaintiffs' have provided this Court 

	

2 	with deliberately incomplete and misleading information disguised as "undisputed facts." 

	

3 	As it relates to the level of security staffing of NYNY, Plaintiffs allege Mr. Nulle's lack 

4 of knowledge of industry standards amount to NYNY falling below the standard of care. 

	

5 	Interestingly, Plaintiffs fail to provide any documentation or evidence setting forth an industry 

6 staffing standard. Moreover, Mr. Nulle provided testimony as to NYNY's determination of 

	

7 	assigning security officers to certain areas. He testified budgeting issues, volume, and areas of 

	

8 	responsibility can dictate the number of security officers assigned to certain areas. Id. at 32:20- 

9 33:6. According to Mr. Nulle, NYNY is able to track its past history to make a 

10 determination of how many officers need to be assigned to the areas. Id. If there is a special 

	

11 	event weekend, NYNY would bring in additional security. Id. According to NYNY's expert, 

12 Tommy Bums, NYNY and its security personnel met or exceeded the standard of care for 

13 security in the hotel/casino setting. See, Ex. C at p.13. According to Mr. Burns, NYNY had 

	

14 	"sufficient security staffing levels, identifiable uniforms/attire, adequate training policies in 

15 place, and effectively responded to the incident." Id. Plaintiffs' Motion provides no such 

	

16 	support for the miscast allegations contained within. 

	

17 	B. 	Summary Judgment Standard  

	

18 	Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to 

19 interrogatories, admissions, affidavits that are properly before the Court to demonstrate that no 

20 genuine issues of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

	

21 	law. Pegasus v Reno Newspapers, Inc., 118 Nev. 706, 713 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002). Substantive 

22 law controls whether factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; other 

	

23 	factual disputes are irrelevant. Anderson v Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 

24 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). 

	

25 	The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the non-moving party may not defeat a motion 

26 for summary judgment by relying on "Gossamer's threads of whimsy, speculation and 

27 conjecture" Wood v Safeway, 121 Nev. 724, 732, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005). The Court made 

28 it abundantly clear when a motion for summary judgment has been made and supported as 
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I 	required by NRCP 56, the non-moving party must not rest upon general allegations and 

	

2 	conclusions, but must by affidavit or otherwise set forth the specific facts demonstrating the 

	

3 	existence of a genuine factual issue. Id. 

C. A Court, not Jury Must Decide Whether Ferrell's Attack was a Similar  
Happening and Whether a Duty Existed  

The court, not a jury, must decide whether a wrongful act by a third-party on the premises 

of a hotel was "foreseeable." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 651.015(2). The court must determine as a 

matter of law whether the hotel had a duty to take reasonable precautions against that wrongful 

act. Id. Duty is "a question of law to be decided by a judge." Estate of Smith v. Mahoney's 

Silver Nugget, Inc., 265 P.3d 688, 691 (Nev. 2011). 

The conclusion that it is a judge's function to determine whether a duty exists is 

supported by the legislative history. Nevada Revised Statute § 651.015 originated as part of 

Nevada Senate Bill 474 ("S.B. 474"). The Nevada Legislature considered S.B. 474 in 1995. 

This statute codified Nevada common law requiring the court to decide issues of duty and 

foreseeability as a matter of law instead of sending such issues to the fact-finding jury. See 

Hearing on S.B. 474 Before the Assembly Comm. on Judiciary, 28th  Leg. 10 (Nev., May 18, 

1995) (statement by Harvey Whittemore, Nevada Resort Association) attached as Exhibit G. 

Based upon the above it is clear this matter is ripe for summary judgment in favor of 

NYNY because a determination of foreseeablity and duty are questions of law, not fact. 

Moreover, for the reasons set forth below, this Honorable Court should hold that the criminal 

acts of Ferrell were unforeseeable, random, and unpredictable and therefore, created no duty on 

the part of NYNY. 

D. NYNY Had No Duty To Prevent the Unforeseeable Criminal Acts of Ferrell 

	

24 	Plaintiffs' Motion fails to establish NYNY had a duty to protect Plaintiffs from the 

	

25 	unforeseeable acts of Ferrell. Absent any evidence or documentation supporting Plaintiffs" 

	

26 	position, they instead rely upon Mr. Nulle's opinion testimony as to foreseeability and liability. 

27 Plaintiffs claim Mr. Nulle's opinion testimony binds NYNY and is dispositive of the notion that 

28 the subject incident was foreseeable and thus, NYNY had a duty of care. While convenient to 
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1 	
Plaintiffs plight, Plaintiffs' position is contravened by the legal authority governing an 

	

2 	innkeeper's duty. 

	

3 	
Foreseeability is a legal term of art requiring a judicial determination as to whether it 

	

4 	
exists in a given set of circumstances. In a liability analysis "foreseeability" carries more weight 

	

5 	
than that of simply the word on its face, and certainly more than a lay persons' interpretation of 

	

6 	
the word. 	Mr. Nulle provided deposition testimony as to his opinions of foreseeability and 

	

7 	incident prevention. Mr. Nulle was not testifying as to a determination of foreseeability that falls 

	

8 	in line with the statutory scheme or with that of Estate of Smith, because he is not the proper 

	

9 	entity to do so. Moreover, crime can occur on the premises of a hotel every single day of the  
10 

week. As such, it certainly may be "foreseeable", in common parlance, but not in the legal 

	

11 	sense, that a fight could occur on NYNY's premises. However, that is not the proper analysis 

this Court must apply. 

Nevada's innkeeper statute governs the civil liability of hotel owners for the death or 

injury of a person on the hotel premises caused by a third person who is not an employee of the 

owner. Nevada Revised Statute § 651.015(1) provides: 

1. 	An owner or keeper of any hotel, inn, motel, motor court, boarding 
house or lodging house is not civilly liable  for the death or injury  
of a patron or other person on the premises caused by another 

	

18 
	 person who is not an employee under the control or supervision  

of the owner or keeper unless: 
19 

a) 	the wrongful act which caused the death or injury was 

	

20 
	 foreseeable; and 

	

21 
	

b) 	there is a preponderance of evidence that the owner or 
keeper did not exercise due care for the safety of the patron 

	

22 
	 or other person on the premises. (Emphasis added.) 

	

23 
	The Nevada Supreme Court addressed the issue of determining whether the criminal act 

	

24 
	of a third party should be considered foreseeable. See Estate of Smith, 265 P.3d at 690. To 

	

25 
	determine foreseeability for the purposes of establishing duty, a court must consider "two 

	

26 
	distinct approaches: (1) evidence of prior similar acts and (2) a totality of the 

	

27 
	circumstances. Id (emphasis added). The Court further held "[i]f an injury is unforeseeable, 

28 
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1 	then the innkeeper owes no duty, and the district court has no occasion to consider the remaining 

elements of plaintiffs cause of action." Id. at 690-691. 

	

3 	The Legislative History of the Innkeeper Statute further illustrates Nevada's 
4 underlying policy that an innkeeper is not  the insurer of a patron's safety. Specifically, it 
5 sought to shift liability away from the innkeeper when the third party act was 
6 unforeseeable or unanticipated. This is the same policy that the Nevada Supreme Court 
7 has been developing over the last several years, as "foreseeability is a policy concern that 

	

8 	limits . . liability to only those harms with a reasonably close connection to its breach." 
9 Bower v. Harm/i's Laughlin, Inc., 215 P.2d 709, 724 (Nev. 2009). This Court further 

	

10 	explained that: 

	

11 	
1w] hen a third party commits an intentional tort or crime, the 
act is a superceding cause, even when the negligent party created 
a situation affording the third party an opportunity to commit the 
tort or crime. [Restatement (Second) of Torts § 448 (1965)1 In 
such a scenario, the negligent party will only be liable if he knew 
or should have known at the time of the negligent conduct that he 
was creating a situation and that a third party "might have 
availed himself of the opportunity to commit such a tort or 
crime." Id. 

Id. at 725 (emphasis added). Notably, the above standard is more broad than Nevada Revised 

Statute § 651.015(3)(b) which is limited to notice or knowledge. 

Nevada Revised Statute § 651.015(1)(a) and § 651.015(3)(b) increased a plaintiffs 

	

20 
	burden to establish the notice element of duty through foreseeability. The Legislature clearly 

	

21 
	intended that Nevada Revised Statute § 651.015 reflect Nevada's policy that an innkeeper is not 

22 the insurer of a patron's safety. Thus, the statute imposes a duty on an innkeeper only when 

	

23 
	there are prior "similar" incidents and/or a failure to exercise reasonable due care for the 

	

24 
	safety of a patron. This statutory language rejects fuading liability based upon constructive 

	

25 
	notice" that a third party may carry the potential for unspecified violence. Otherwise, and 

26 contrary to Estate of Smith, Wood, and Bower, innkeepers would have a heightened duty to  

	

27 
	predict sudden, unpredictable violent behavior that lacked any indicator that violence was about 

	

28 
	to occur, which is the exact duty abrogated by the Innkeeper Statute in 1995. 
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1 	The Legislature was fully aware that crime occurs every day in a casino. In fact, the 

	

2 	Legislative History revealed that the Legislature considered that "'random, violent crime is 

	

3 	endemic in today's society. It is difficult, if not impossible, to envision any locale open to 

4 the public where the occurrence of violent crime seems improbable . . . . No one knows 

5 really knows why people commit crime, hence no one really knows what is 'adequate' 

	

6 	deterrence in any given situation."' Id. (emphasis added). Thus, the Legislature sought to 

7 "immunize casinos from liability for the unforeseeable acts of third parties." See Hearing 

8 on S.B. 474 Before the Assembly Comm. on Judiciary, 68' Leg. 11 (Nev., June 10, 1995) 

9 (statement by Barbara E. Buckley, Vice Chairman, Assembly Comm. on Judiciary). 

	

10 	Thus, unless a plaintiff can present evidence of prior "similar" wrongful acts or 

Ii demonstrate the "circumstances surrounding the commission of a wrongful act" provide the 

	

12 	innkeeper with "the requisite foreseeability," the innkeeper is shielded from liability because the 

	

13 	innkeeper owed the plaintiff no duty. Estate of Smith, 265 P.3d at 692. 

	

14 	 3. 	No prior "similar" criminal acts of a third party exist in this case. 

	

15 	In the early morning hours of Saturday, April 10, 2010, at approximately 3:50 a.m., 

16 Ferrell and his friends were walking through NYNY. Around this time, Plaintiffs were also 

17 walking through NYNY near pit #3 in the opposite direction as Ferrell. Plaintiff Humphries 

18 stopped to comment about a dress being worn by a Female member of Ferrell's group. Ferrell 

19 directed lewd and inappropriate comments toward Plaintiff Humphries. Plaintiff Humphries did 

20 not inform NYNY security or any other NYNY employee of Fen-ell's lewd comments.  

	

21 	Moreover, Plaintiff Humphries did not walk away from Ferrell's group. Instead, Plaintiff 

22 Humphries chose to remain in the area and continually assaulted Ferrell by spitting on or 

	

23 	
making a "spitting type gesture" toward Ferrell.  Ferrell then retaliated by attacking Plaintiff 

24 Humphries and immediately a brawl ensued. Shortly thereafter, NYNY security subdued Ferrell 

	

25 	with the assistance of Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. Ferrell was arrested, detained, 

26 and subsequently transported to Clark County Detention Center, booked and incarcerated. He 

27 was charged with felony battery. 
28 
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Plaintiffs cannot provide any evidence demonstrating NYNY has encountered an incident 

similar to the above. In fact, in the twelve (12) months prior to this incident, there were no 

documented incidents of violent acts involving similar facts or circumstances as the underlying 

incident. See generally, NYNY Incident Reports, attached hereto as Exhibit H (the majority of 

incidents involved domestic disputes in guest rooms, or physical altercations between security 

and patrons as security attempted to trespass the patrons). 

In Estate of Smith, security officers at the Silver Nugget asked a boisterous group of 

individuals seated at a bar to leave the premises. Estate of Smith, 265 13.3d 688 at 689. As the 

group left, a verbal altercation arose between the group and another individual — the plaintiff. Id. 

The plaintiff punched a member of the group in the face. Id. In response, another member of the 

group "immediately revealed a concealed weapon and fatally shot [plaintiff]." Id. at 690. This 

event lasted approximately 10 seconds.  Id. at 689. Plaintiff's estate sued Silver Nugget alleging 

negligence. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court analyzed the factors that should be considered 

when determining whether any "similar" wrongful act has occurred to establish an innkeeper's 

duty. Id. at 692. The Court noted a "distinction between events occurring in the inner versus the 

outer areas of a casino, as well as the contrast in different levels of violence." Id. 

To establish a prior "similar" act, plaintiffs estate referenced several "fights and 

robberies that occurred inside the casino within five years prior to the murder," but the Court 

noted that the level of violence, injury and weapons used were not similar. Id. The estate also 

identified several incidents that occurred in the "parking lot outside of the casino" which include 

reports of gun fire. Id. The Court noted that these incidents did not take place within the casino  

and the levels of violence and injury were not similar.  Id. Based upon the above, the Court held 

no prior "similar" event had ever occurred. Id. 

Here, Plaintiffs allege prior incidents of "similar" wrongful acts had occurred on the 

premises, but the evidence demonstrates no such acts have occurred. The only evidence 

Plaintiffs reply upon is Mr. Nulle's testimony that he "estimates" fight may occur on the property 

two to three times a week. This testimony alone does not satisfy the "prior similar acts" analysis. 

Plaintiffs' counsel failed to elicit specifics related to the alleged two to three fights per week, 
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1 	including the circumstances surrounding the fights, the similar locations, and the severity 

2 	of the injuries. The facts Plaintiffs rely upon lack any findings showing the subject attack was 

3 	foreseeable based upon prior similar acts. 

4 	Interestingly, Plaintiffs fail to identify any prior incident in the NYNY or any other Strip 

5 	property involving similar circumstances. The reason for this is simple — it had not happened 

6 before! Prior to the incident, NYNY had not encountered an incident in the same location with 

7 	the same circumstances as in this case. There is no record, nor have Plaintiffs provided an 

8 example, of a physical brawl taking place on the casino floor stemming from one patron spitting 

9 on or toward another patron. Based upon the above, Plaintiffs cannot demonstrate that prior 

10 similar acts have occurred. Therefore, NYNY owes no duty based upon prior similar acts. 

11 

12 	2. 	Mr. Ferrell's conduct prior to the incident did not make his subsequent 
wrongful conduct foreseeable. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that an innkeeper may owe a duty when the 

circumstances prior to the subject incident provide "requisite foreseeability" of the resultant 

crime. Estate of Smith, 265 P.3d 688 at 692. To make this determination, the district court must 

conclude whether the innkeeper "should have known" of a specific danger, such as a patron 

"carrying a concealed weapon." Id. In Estate of Smith, the Court held the circumstances of the 

specific incident did not establish a duty. Id. This is because no evidence suggested that the 

assailant was carrying a concealed weapon and because security was already escorting the 

boisterous group off the premises. Id. Further, the Court held that no duty exists when the 

innkeeper takes "basic minimum precautions to ensure the safety of its patrons." Id. 

No information existed to put NYNY on notice that Mr. Ferrell 
23 	 posed a threat to NYNY 's patrons. 

24 	Here, the NYNY had no notice or knowledge Ferrell would commit his act of attacking 

25 	Plaintiff Humphries in retaliation to being assaulted. Plaintiffs fail to address this obvious point 

26 	in their Motion, because the evidence suggests Ferrell did nothing prior to the incident that 

27 would have placed NYNY on notice. In fact, the absence of such information supports NYNY's 

28 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

position that this incident was spontaneous. Nonetheless, the totality of the circumstances 
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1 demonstrates NYNY satisfied the required "minimum precautions" requirement to ensure the 

	

2 	safety of its patrons. Id. 

	

3 	The Legislature understood that crime occurs in hotels every day. Unfortunately, in the 

4 day and age of gang bangers, drug dealers, prostitutes, and other predators who prey upon 

5 customers, Nevada law does not allow the casinos to remove these persons simply because 

	

6 	they look suspicious. NEV. REV. STAT. § 651.050 et seq.; § 651.070 ("[a]ll persons are entitled 

	

7 	to the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages and 

8 accommodations of any place of public accommodation, without discrimination or segregation 

	

9 	on the ground of race, color, religion, national origin, disability or sexual orientation."). To the 

	

10 	contrary, they must first engage in disorderly or disruptive conduct to be trespassed. Id. at § 

	

11 	651.020. Similarly, hotel security can only arrest an individual when a crime occurs in their 

presence or to assist another to make a citizen's arrest. Id. at §§ 171.126,171.136(2)(b). 

The Innkeeper statute requires actual notice and a reasonable opportunity to respond 

to and prevent the tortious misconduct. From a policy standpoint, this is consistent with the 

notice requirements previously expressed by the Nevada Supreme Court in Estate of Smith, 

Wood, and Bower. 

The NYNY did not have any notice nor opportunity to respond to or prevent Ferrell from 

	

18 	committing his independent retaliatory criminal act. First, Plaintiff presents no legitimate 

19 argument that any NYNY employee knew or should have known Ferrell would attack Plaintiff 

20 Humphries, or that Plaintiff Humphries would commit an assault on Ferrell. 

	

21 	Prior to the incident, NYNY security had no notice that Ferrell would become involved in a 

22 physical altercation. He had done nothing that would even raise any suspicion or attention from 

23 NYNY security. As such, security could not have trespassed Ferrell unless he engaged in disorderly 

	

24 	or disruptive behavior. NEV. REV. STAT. § 651.020. Moreover, security could not arrest Mr. 

	

25 	Zegman until he had committed a crime in their presence. Id. at §§ 171.126,171.136(2)(b). The truth 

26 of the matter is NYNY could not legally exclude Ferrell from the property prior to commission of his 

27 criminal act nor was there any legitimate information, which would have provided NYNY security 

28 
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1 	with notice that a crime was about to occur. Therefore, NYNY owes no duty based upon the specific 

	

2 	circumstances leading up to the criminal act of Ferrell. 

	

3 	
NYNY employed "basic minimum  precautions to ensure patron 

	

4 
	 safety." 

	

5 
	In Estate of Smith, the Court makes clear that the standard is not "perfect" security, but 

	

6 
	rather "basis minimum precautions." Estate of Smith, 265 P.3d 688 at 692. In that case, security 

	

7 
	was aware that the parties were boisterous and security had already asked the entire group to 

	

8 
	leave the premises. Id. at 690. After being asked to leave, several individuals from the group 

	

9 
	began to argue and one individual punched another in the face. Id. After this altercation, a third 

	

10 
	individual from the group pulled a concealed weapon and fatally shot the other individual. Id. at 

	

11 
	690 - 691. Thus, prior to the shooting, security (1) knew the parties needed to be removed from 

	

1 7 
	 the property, (2) witnessed a physical altercation and (3) failed to separate the parties prior to the 

	

13 
	shooting. See, generally id. With all of the above in mind, the Court noted "it was apparent that 

	

14 
	[defendant] took basic minimum precautions to ensure the safety of its patrons." Id. at 692. 

	

15 
	Here, NYNY's security precautions are far superior to those taken in Estate of Smith. 

16 Perhaps the most obvious point on topic is that security in Estate of Smith witnessed a physical 

	

17 
	altercation, thus putting them on notice of the individuals' violent propensities; however, in this 

18 case, NYNY security officers had no notice whatsoever that Ferrell posed a threat to any patron 

19 NYNY prior to the incident. Moreover as previously indicated, on the night of the incident, 

20 NYNY's security department staffed between 17-20 officers, and two supervisors. Moreover, 

	

21 
	two Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officers were present and on duty. When the 

22 fight erupted, NYNY security immediately radioed to dispatch and to the Las Vegas 

	

23 
	Metropolitan Police contemporaneously with the incident. This is why Metro officers arrived on 

24 the scene at the same time as NYNY security. 

	

25 
	In this case, NYNY had fully staffed the casino with security officers and promptly 

	

26 
	contacted Metro Police once the incident occurred. It is without question these actions constitute 

27 "basic minimum precautions" which far exceed the minimum precautions exercised in Estate of 

28 Smith where the Nevada Supreme Court found no duty existed on the part of the innkeeper 
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1 	defendant.7  Further, it is irresponsible to suggest the security officers present could have done 

	

2 	anything more than they actually did. The entire event took place in under 17 seconds. Given 

	

3 	the facts in this case, it cannot be legitimately disputed that NYNY provided the requisite 

4 minimum precautions. Again, the standard is not "perfect" or" optimum" precautions, but basic 

5 minimum precautions. NYNY satisfied these  requirements. Therefore, this Honorable Court 

6 should find that NYNY owed no duty in this matter. 

	

7 	
E. 	As a Matter of Law, any Negligence of NYNY was Not the Proximate Cause 

	

8 
	 of the Injuries Claimed Because Ferrell's Wrongful/Criminal Act was the 

Superseding, Intervening Cause  
9 

	

10 
	As demonstrated above, Plaintiff's claims must fail because as a matter of NYNY had no 

	

1 1 
	duty to prevent the unforeseeable, unanticipated criminal acts of Ferrell. It is therefore not 

12 necessary for this Honorable Court to examine the sufficiency of any other elements of 

Plaintiff's negligence action. But if examined, it will be revealed that the Complaint fails as a 

14 matter of law to assert the requisite proximate cause between alleged deficiencies and the injuries 

wrought by the assailant. 

'Negligence is not actionable unless, without the intervention of an intervening cause, it 

proximately causes the harm for which complaint was made." Van Cleave v. Kietz-Mill Minit 

	

18 
	Mart, 97 Nev. 414, 416, 633 P.2d 1220, 1221 (1981) (citing Thomas v. Bokelrnan, 86 Nev. 10, 

	

19 
	13, 462 P.2d 1020, 1022 (1970)). To establish an act as the proximate cause of any injury, "it 

20 must appear that the injury was the natural and probable consequence of the negligence or 

	

21 
	wrongful act, and that it ought to have been foreseen in the light of the attending circumstances. 

22 Id. (citations omitted). The cause must be natural (foreseeable) and in a continuous sequence, 

	

23 
	unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, that produces the injury complained of and without 

24 which the result would not have occurred. Goodrich dz Pennington Mortg, Fund, Inc. v. 

	

25 
	Woolard, Inc., 120 Nev. 777, 784, 101 P.3d 792, 796 (2004) (emphasis added). 

26 

	

27 	7 Interestingly, Plaintiffs' Motion fails to cite their security "experts" report as support. Perhaps this is because their 
expert admits "to my knowledge there is no established written guidelines, or industry standard to refer to in 

	

28 	reference to required security staffing levels for a casino floor." See Plaintiffs' Expert Report, attached hereto as 
Exhibit I, at p.6. 
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1 	In Van Cleave, the plaintiff received paralyzing injuries when struck by a car operated by 

2 an intoxicated driver. The plaintiff sued a convenience store which had sold alcohol to a minor 

3 who in turn provided the alcohol to the negligent driver. The defendant store moved to dismiss 

4 on the grounds that the driver's wrongful act of drinking and driving was an intervening cause 

	

5 	which cut off the store's liability to the plaintiff. Although the plaintiff offered evidence that the 

	

6 	store had a history of knowingly selling intoxicating beverages to minors, the trial court 

7 dismissed the complaint,4  finding as a matter of law that the store's conduct was not the 

8 proximate cause of the harm. 

	

9 	In affirming the dismissal, the Nevada Supreme Court held, as a matter of law, that there 

10 was "nothing to suggest that the [defendant], in light of the circumstances, had any reason to 

	

11 	foresee that the purchaser would deliver the beverages to another, or that the person or another to 

12 whom he might give the beverage might, after becoming intoxicated, choose to drive and 

subsequently injure the appellant." Id. At 1222. 

Here, as stated earlier, Plaintiffs must establish that the acts or omissions of NYNY were 

the proximate cause of the injuries inflicted by Ferrell to prevail on their claim for negligence. 

16 Perez v. Las Vegas Medical Center, 107 Nev. 1, 805 P.2d 589 (1991). Plaintiffs' claim that 

cn 
	 NYNY negligently allowed Plaintiffs to be attacked and injured by Ferrell. Even if this 

	

18 	allegation is accepted as true solely for the purposes of this Motion, it does not state a claim for 

	

19 	relief because the intervening criminal act of Ferrell (not to mentioned Plaintiff Humphries' 

	

20 	initial act of spitting) severs any causal connection between the alleged conditions and the 

	

21 	injuries that resulted from it. Plaintiffs' inability to demonstrate the foreseeability of the specific 

22 attack by Ferrell on Plaintiffs is fatal to the claim against NYNY. As such, NYNY respectfully 

23 requests that this Honorable Court grant its Motion for Summary Judgment. 

24 V. CONCLUSION 

	

25 	Based upon the above, it is clear this Honorable Court, and not a jury, must decide 

26 whether NYNY owed a duty. As Ferrell's retaliatory attack was sudden and unpredictable, 

27 
4. 	The defendant store moved for dismissal under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(1)(5). Because matters 

	

28 	outside the pleadings were presented to and not excluded by the trial court, the motion was treated as a 
summary judgment motion. Van Cleave, 97 Nev. At 415, 633 P.2d at 1221). 
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NYNY did not owe the Plaintiff a duty. Specifically, no duty exists because no prior similar acts  

had ever occurred, and NYNY had implemented the basic minimum requirements by properly 

staffing security and responding to the incident in a timely fashion. Not only did NYNY not owe 

Plaintiff a duty, but NYNY could not have been the proximate cause of Plaintiffs injuries 

because the criminal act of Fen-ell is a superseding, intervening act which cuts off any potential 

liability. Therefore, Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment fails, and NYNY respectfully 

requests that this Honorable Court grant its Motion for Summary Judgment. 

DATED this  10  day of December, 2013. 

MARTIN J. KRA' 	, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 83 
KRISTOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 
8985 So. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
NEW YORK-NEW YORK HOTEL 
& CASINO, LLC 
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1 	 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

2 	1 HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 14 El  day of December, 2013,1 served a true and correct 

3 copy of the foregoing OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY 

4 JUDGMENT AND COUNTER MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  by electronic 

5 	mail and by placing the same in a sealed envelope and mailing via U.S. Postal Service, first 

6 	class, postage fully prepaid, upon thereon to: 

7 
	

Craig W. Drummond, Esq. 	 Joshua L. Tomsheck, Esq. 
CRAIG W. DRUMMOND, P.C. 	 HOFLAND & TOMSFIECK 

8 
	

228 South Fourth Street 
	 228 South Fourth Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
	

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorney for Plaintiffs CAREY 

	
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs CAREY 

HUMPHRIES and LOREArZO 
	

HUMPHRIES and LORENZO 
ROCHA, III 
	

ROCHA, III 

Employ* of KRA vITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON 
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19 
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21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS 
CASE No. C-I0-267224-1 

State of Nevada vs Erik Ferrell Felony/Gross 
Misdemeanor 

Date Filed: 08/3112010 
Location: Department 8 

Cross-Reference Case C267224 
Number: 

Defendants Scope ID #: 2750903 
Lower Court Case Number: 10F06777 

Case Type: 

PARTY INFORMATION 

Defendant Ferrell, Erik M. 

Plaintiff 	State of Nevada 

Lead Attorneys 
Amy Chelini 

Retained 
7023860500(W) 

Steven B Wolfson 
702-671-2700(W) 

CHARGE INK)RMATION 

Charges: Ferrell, Erik M. 	 Statute 
	

Level 
	

Date 

1. ATT BATTERY WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM 
	

200.481 
	

Felony 
	

04/10/2010 

(FELONY) 
EVENTS& ORI)EE4 OF THE C DORT 

02/28/2011 Motion (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Smith, Douglas E.) 

Motion to Quash Bench Warrant 

Minutes 
02/28/2011 8:00 AM 

Counsel advised Deft. had been in custody in Cleveland, Ohio 
on traffic violations which proceeded this case. COURT 
ORDERED, motion GRANTED and bench warrant QUASHED 
State recommended felony treatment w ith no opposition to 
probation. Statement by Deft. Argument by counsel. DEFT. 
FERRELL ADJUDGED GUILTY of ATTEMPT BATTERY WITH 
SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (F). COURT ORDERED, in addition 
to the $25.00 Administrative Assessment fee, $150.00 DNA 

Analysis fee including testing to determine genetic markers and 
$24,040.12 Restitution, Deft. SENTENCED to a MAXIMUM of 

FORTY-EIGHT (48) MONTHS and MINIMUM of NINETEEN (19) 
MONTHS in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDC), 
SUSPENDED placed on PROBATION for an indeterminate period 

not to exceed FIVE (5) YEARS. CONDITIONS: 1. Submit to a test 
to determine genetic markers and pay the $150.00 testing fee. 

2. Abide by any curfew imposed by probation officer. 3. 
Complete 16 hours of community service work each month of 
probation not to exceed the provisions of NRS 176.087, unless 
employed or going to school full time and at the discretion of 

P&P. 4. Submit to any counseling deemed necessary by P&F. 5. 

Refrain from the use, possession or control of any alcoholic 

beverages or illegal drugs during term of probation. 6. Submit to 

random urinalysis, at Defendant's expense, during probation as 
deemed necessary. 7. Pay restitution during term of probation. 

8. Sign a Civil Confession of Judgment during time of probation. 
9. Serve THREE (3) MONTHS at the Clark County Detention 
Center (CCDC) on the weekends. 10. Search clause. FURTHER, 

matter SET for status check for submitting of order regarding 
Deft's weekend surrender_ BOND, if any, EXONERATED. NIC 
03-28-11 8:00 AM STATUS CHECK: WEEKEND SURRENDER 

Parties Present 
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Incident File Full Report 	 Incident File  #IN20100017471  

INCIDENT DATA 

Date/Time Occurred: April 10, 2010 3:58 

Date/Time Created: Apra 10, 2010 3:58 

Incident Status: Closed 

Secondary Operator: I]opez 

Property: 	 NY NY Sec 

Department Name: Security 

Owner: 
	srosenth01 

Created By: 	srosenth01 

Location: 	Casino NYNY' 

Sublocation: 	Pit 2 

Daily Log #: 

Synopsis: 

Incident Type: 

Specific: 

Category: 

Details: 

DL20100319275 

Fight between Pit 2 & Pit 3 
2 Subjects in custody 
Metro responding from ROK, Guest Carey Humphries, staying in room #2233, was 
assaulted while walking between Pit 2 and Pit 3 by Subject Erik Ferrell. Paramedics were 
called for Guest Humphries, there was a positive transport to Spring Valley. Security 
Assistant Manager Pete Bush was notified and on scene and Assistant Front Desk 
Manager Margaret Chan was notified. Refer to report #20100017493. 

People/Public Order 

Guest 

Injury 

On 04-10-10 at approximately 3:51 am I, Security Shift Supervisor Jason Lopez, responded 
to the area between Pit 2 and Pit 3 for a report of a fight. Upon arrival I found Guest Carey 
Humphries lying on her back with blood coming out of her nose and mouth. The injuries 
were sustained from Subject Erik Ferrell who had punched Guest Humphries in the face 
several times and kicked in the face a couple of times. Paramedics were called immediately. 
Refer to report #20100017493. 

AMR Unit #5911 arrived on scene at approximately 3:59 am on 04-10-10, CCFD Engine 
#32 arrived on scene at approximately 4:01 am on 04-10-10. AMR Unit #5911 departed 
property at approximately 4:23 am on 04-10-10_ CCFD Engine #32 departed property at 
approximately 4:20 am on 04-10-10 There was a positive transport to Spring Valley 
Hospital. Assistant Front Desk Manager Margaret Chan was notified. 

Surveillance has positive coverage of the incident, it has been downloaded to the Grave Shift 
Viewer File. Camera #921,#946 and 5301 have positive coverage, 

Security Assistant Manager Pete Bush was notified and on scene. 
Assistant Front Desk Manager Margaret Chan was notified of the incident. 

Attachments: 
(1) Room Folio 

- Ambulance Offered And Accepted 
- First Aid Offered And Accepted 

Nothing further to report. 

Checklist: 

Remarks: 

Reporting Party: 

 

Supervisor 
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I Incident Fife Full Report 	 Incident  File M/420100017471 	j 

PARTICIPANT DATA 

Full Name: Chambers, Lisa Marie 
	

Company: 

Primary Role: Guest' 
	

Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: .Witness 
	

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: NO 
	

Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 7617 103rd Street Grande Prairie Alberta 18W 1Y8 Canada 

Contact Info: Tel (780)814-5351 

Full Name: Jivapong, C 

Primary Role: Police 

Company: Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Eolice.Dept. 

Participant Type: ueneric 

Secondary Role: On Scene 
	

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 
	

Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 

Contact Info: 

Full Name: Humphries, Carey 	 Company: 

Primary Role: Guest 	 Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: injured guest 	 Taken From Sdene: No 

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address : 21974 Tanager St Grand Terrace California 92313 USA 

Contact Info: 

Full Name: Hansen, J 

Primary Role: Police 

Secondary Role: On Scene 	 Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 

Contact Info: 

Full Name: Jackson- McDonald, 	 Company: 
Ghiigpher 

Primary Role: Fatr 	 Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: Witness 	 Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 

Contact Info: 

Full Name: Rolfe, Bill 	 Company: 

Primary Role: Patron 	 Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: Witness 	 Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Reporting Party. 	 Supervisor: 

Printed: May 18, 2010 14:20 	 Page 2 of 5] 

Company; Las Vegas Metropolitan 
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Incident File Full Report 	 incident File #IN20100017471  

Address: 18685 E Garden Place Aurora Colorado 80015 USA 

Contact Info: 

Full Name: Deboer, Justin Michael 	 Company: 

Primary Role: Patron 	 Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: Witness 	 Taken From Scene: No 

	

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 4255 Kittridge St. Denver Colorado 80239 USA 

Contact Info: Tel: (303)419-0705 

Full Name: Rocha Ill, Lorenzo Arick 	 Company: 

Primary Role: Guest 	 Participant Type: Generic 

Secondary Role: Witness 	 Taken From Scene: No 

	

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 3309 Eagle Point Yucaipa California 92399 USA 

Contact Info: Tel: (619)507-3095 

Full Name: Stensland, Kevin 

Primary Role: Security Officer 

Secondary Role: On Scene 

Police Contacted: No 

Company: NY NY Sec 

Participant Type: Personnel 

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted Result: 

Full Name: 

Primary Role: 

Secondary Role: 

Police Contacted: 

Full Name: 

Primary Role: 

Secondary Role: 

Police Contacted: 

Hart, John 

Security Officer 

On Scene 

No 

But, Michele -1  

Security Officer 

On Scene 

No 

Company: NY NY Sec 

Participant Type: Personnel 

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted Result: 

Company: NY NY Sec 

Participant Type: Personnel 

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted Result: 

Company: 

Participant Type: 

Taken From Scene: 

Police Contacted Result: 

Company: 

Participant Type: 

Taken From Scene: 

Police Contacted Result: 

Full Name: Getchell, Jay 

Primary Role: Security Officer 

Secondary Role: On Scene 

Police Contacted: No 

Full Name: Stewart, John 

Primary Role: Security Officer 

Secondary Role: On Scene 

Police Contacted: No 

NY NY Sec 

Personnel 

No 

NY NY Sec 

Personnel 

No 

Reporting Party . 
	 Supervisor: 

Printed: May 18, 2010 14:20 	 Page 3 of 5 1 

NYNY 00003 

0136 



rIncident File Full Report 	 Incident File MI120100017471  

Full Name: Bush, Peter 	 Company: NY NY Sec 

Primary Role: Security Assistant Manager 
	

Participant Type: Personnel 

Secondary Role: On Scene 
	

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 
	

Police Contacted Result: 

Company: NY NY Sec 

Participant Type: Personnel 

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted Result: 

Company: NY NY Sec 

Participant Type: Personnel 

Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted Result: 

Full Name: Letterman, Wade 

Primary Role: Security Officer 

SeCondary Role: On Scene • 

Police Contacted: No 

Full Name: Lopez, Jason Reed 

Primary Role: Security Supervisor 

Secondary Role: Report Writer 

Police Contacted: No 

Full Name: Ferrell, Erik Maurice 	 Company: 

Primary Role: Subject 	 Participant Type: Subject 
. 	- 

Secondary Role: Arrested 	 Taken From Scene: No 

Police Contacted: No 	 Police Contacted Result: 

Address: 6765 Caporetto Ln. North Las Vegas Nevada 89084 USA 

Contac•info: 

Reporting Party: 
	

Supervisor: 
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I Incident File Full Report 	 Incident File #IN20100017471 

SUPPLEMENTAL ENTRIES 

Supplemental Number 
	

Date Attached 
	

Attached By 
SP20100004254 
	

Apri112, 2010 11:55 
	

jworkizer 

Description: On Sunday, April 11, 2010, at approximately 1:00 PM, Hotel Manager Andy Meese and I, 
Security Supervisor J. Workizer, met with Guest Kelly Humphries, her boyfriend, Lorenzo Rocha 
and her family in the VIP Lounge. The victim and family expressed their frustration and concern 
that the Hotel did not reach out to Ms. Humphries in an adequate time and they were concerned 
about Security's response time during the incident itself. Andy and I, answered any questions 
they had at the time. 

I requested Ms. Humphries to fill out a Guest Report of Incident form, which she took with her to 
fill out when she felt more rested. I also obtained photos of the victims injuries and provided ice 
packs, rags and bottled waters. They were informed that Risk Management would be in contact 
with the victim on Monday for further assistance. 

There is no further information at this time. 

Attached is the following: 

1 (7) Photos 
SP20100004255 
	

April 12, 2010 11:55 
	

jworkizer 

Description: On Monday, April 12, 2010, at approximately 10:30 AM, Risk Management Manager Mike Morrill, 
Hotel Manager Andy Meese and 1, Security Supervisor J. Workizer, met with Guest Humphries, 
Guest Rocha, Guest Humphries' Mother Cindy VanDuzor, Guest Humphries' Father James 
Sherratt and other immediate family members in the VIP Lounge_ 

Manager Morrill answered any questions the involved parties had at the time. The family notified 
Manager Morrill that they sought out legal counsel, from a family friend, and were advised not to 
complete any statements in writing or sign anything, however they also stated, they would be 
willing to share information verbally as needed. 

Guest Rocha complained of his nose hurting and a scab on his forehead, as a result of the 
incident. He relayed in the 4-11-10 meeting, that he felt guilty for not protecting Guest 
Humphries more during the incident. He stated, he did not realize that when Guest Humphries 
approached the unknown female to compliment her that a struggle would erupt. He stated that 
he began to walk off from Guest Humphries because he's used to her being "chatty' with other 
people and figured this was another one of those instances. 

Guest Humphries stated, she had prior ear drum damage and since the incident, her ear hasn't 
stopped bleeding. She also relayed in the 4-11-10 meeting, that she recalls and Guest Rocha 
recalls her spitting on Subject Erik Ferrell before the incident 

Additional digital video coverage of this incident was reviewed. Camera #924 was saved under 
the "2010" folder. I also contacted Surveillance about tracking the parties involved prior to the 
incident Refer to Surveillance report #20100010564. 

There is no further information at this time. 

List Of Attached Forms 

Prefix 
	

FormNarnq 

Reporting Party: n'uperosor 

Printed: May 18, 2010 14:20 	 Page 5 of 5 

NYNY 00005 

0138 



0139  



0140  



0141  



0142  



0143  



0144  



0145  



0146  



0147  



0148  



0149  



0150  



0151  



0152  



0153  



0154  



0155  



0156  



0157  



0158  



0159  



0160  



0161  



0162  



0163  



0164  



0165  



0166  



0167  



Rocha's face looking down at me and his eyes look worried. I knew his eyes were worried about 

2 me. Then I remember telling myself over and over, "hit and kick, hit and kick." The last thing I 

3 remember was a group of people standing around me and a bunch of people standing like in a line 

4 staring at me. The people around me were a medical team putting a neck brace on me. The people 

5 standing off in the distance were people I didn't know, Rocha, and our friends Chad and Shannon 

6 Mekatarian. When I realized what was happening I mouthed or spoke or maybe even motioned for 

7 Rocha to come to me. His lips said, "Your ok, don't move." 

8 INTERROGATORY N0,6:  

9 
	Describe in detail any conversations you with anyone or which you overheard at the scene 

10 of the incident, stating the name, address, and telephone number of the person speaking. 

RESPONSE: 

12 
	I do not know any members of the Ferrell party that were at the scene of the incident. 

13 Therefore I do not know their name, address, and telephone number. 

The infommtion I can provide [detail and conversations] would be found in Interrogatory 

15 No. 5. The only other additional information I can provide is that the girl was wearing black and 

16 white zebra printed shorts with a large red belt. Within our conversation she told me that her 

17 shorts were purchased from Charlotte Ruth's. I believe it was because of our lighthearted 

18 conversation on fashion that she introduced me to her male friends as they walked up to join them. 

19 
	 PRIOR CLAIMS AND LITIGATION 

20 INTERROGATORY NO.7:  

21 
	If you have ever made any claim or filed any lawsuit against any person, group or 

12 organization, corporation, or industrial commission, or any other entity, describe in detail the 

23 nature of the claim or lawsuit, the date and location of such action, and how it was resolved. 

24 RESPONSE: 

25 
	None. 

26 
	

PERSONAL INJURIES 

27 INTERROGATORY NO.8:  

28 
	

If you received any injuries of any kind whatsoever as it relates to this litigation of which 

you, your attorney, or your doctors are aware or suspect, please list and describe each in specific 
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1 detail, giving the exact location within or upon your body of all your injuries and the nature of 

2 your complaints, whether physical, dental, emotional, nervous, mental, or psychological. 

3 RESPONSE: 

4 
	Skull fracture was located on the right side of my head, two black eyes, lacerations and 

5 abrasions to eyes, nose, and lips. Mental, nervous, emotional, physical, psychological. 

6 Additionally, please see Answer to Interrogatory No. 10. 

7 INTERROGATORY NO.9:  

8 
	If any of the injuries you claim were caused in this incident are an aggravation of a pre- 

9 existing condition, please state the nature of the pre-existing conditions, what caused the onset of 

10 the condition, and the nature of the aggravation claim. 

11 RESPONSE: 

12 
	None. 

13 INTERROGATORY NO,  10: 

14 
	If you claim any of your injuries are permanent, state which of the injuries you claim to be 

15 permanent and what, if any, disabilities you contend such injuries have or will have. 

16 RESPONSE: 

17 
	The permanent injuries are a disfigured nose, disfigured top lip, anxiety, chest pain, 

18 shortness of breath, very low tolerance for others, impatient with others (when I have to explain 

19 things or they misunderstand me), frequent headaches, short term memory loss, low feelings of 

20 self-worth, afraid to be in front Of crowds, scared to be alone, scared of being outside in the dark, 

1 1 scared to be challenged, night terrors, and night sweats. 

22 
	I can't seem to remember the simplest things and have to record them to remember. My 

23 nose is crocked and misshapen (has a bump). My nose is sensitive on the right side when force is 

24- added. Also, I have disfiguration in my upper lip on the left side where my teeth went through. 

Besides the physical aspects, the hardest permanent injury is my anxiety. My anxiety has 

26 caused me to leave my career in teaching. I had been teaching in a middle school as a resident 

substitute teacher for two and a half years at the same school sight. After this incident I found it 

28 physically draining to keep order in the classroom. On the outside I knew I looked and acted the 

same towards the students. But on the inside I was a wreck. I had so much anxiety. My chest 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1') 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

11 

2") 

23 

24 

25 

26 

1 always felt like! was being squeezed. From my chest and all the way up the right side of my neck 

it felt like I was on fire inside. I felt uncomfortable in my own skin. I lost who I was as a person.! 

lived constantly in fear to face my day to day. When I would wake up I often would feel calm. By 

the time I was out of the shower the chest pain, neck burning, the chest squeezing feelings and the 

uneasiness in my own skin was back. It wouldn't leave no matter how hard I tried. It lasted all day 

until I went to bed. This went on for months. At one point it had gotten so bad that I got what 

looked like a rash on my lower left side of my back. As the rash spread it began to itch. I went 

twice to the emergency room and they determined that it was herpes zoster. Herpes zoster is a 

mild form of chicken pox that is caused by excessive stress. I was given a steroid and cream for 

this. Shortly after this I was prescribed my second bottle of Xanax and first bottle of Paxil and the 

doctor suggested I attend counseling. Instead of taking the Paxil I took a more holistic method 

with an over the counter anxiety medication that I took for months_ The Xanax was used as 

needed. 

Because of this crime that was forced on me I cannot deal with highly stressful situations. 1 

cannot deal with the daily struggles of being a teacher. I cannot deal with children disrespecting 

me or challenging my every word. My six years of college and my five years of being in the 

Fontana Unified School District are no more. My dreams are shattered because of this selfish 

violent act that was thrust upon me. 

Daily I have to remind myself of things I need to accomplish in my phone calendar with 

alarms attached. For every one thing I will have anywhere from one to four reminders (depends on 

the importance) set to go off for that day. It is ridiculous and embarrassing that I have to remind 

myself of such simple things. Often when I talk to Rocha he will remind me that we have already 

discussed something when in fact I just simply don't remember. 

The anxiety and memory loss are physically and chronologically my biggest challenges. It 

hurts to know that 1 use to be such a confidant woman I feel nervous when in large groups or 

crowds. I always feel like I need to look behind me or be careful of my surroundings. I feel the 

best when I am with someone who I trust. 1 feel like they can protect me. 

28 INTERROGATORY NO. 11:  

If you claim that any medical treatment or expense will be necessary in the future as a 
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1 result of the incident in question, please state the nature of the treatment and/or expenses and the 

name, address, and telephone number of the person advising of such necessity. 

3 RESPONSE: 

	

4 
	I am not aware if any medical treatment will he necessary in the future. 

	

5 
	 PRIOR MEDICAL HISTORY 

6 INTERROGATORY NO. 12:  

	

7 
	State in detail your physical and/or mental medical history previous to the incident in 

8 question including all illnesses, injuries, or mental treatment you have received and giving the 

9 names, addresses, and telephone numbers of any health care providers and their dates of treatment 

10 to you. 

11 RESPONSE: 

	

12 
	Objection. This request is overbroad as to scope and period of time. Without waiving this 

13 objection: 

Illness and injury:  

	

15 
	1. Tubes in both ears. -Beaver Medical Group, Redlands office 

	

16 
	 A. 1987 

	

17 
	 B. A few years later 

	

18 
	 C. 1996-1997 

	

19 
	2. 1983: 3 stitches in the middle of the back of my head. -Treatment at Kaiser, Fontana, 

	

20 
	 CA 

	

7] 
	 3. 1988: 11 or 12 stitches under my right eye and possible concussion. I was treated in the 

emergency room located in Saint Jorge Utah. All follow up appointments were with 

	

23 
	Pacific Care at the Cooley Ranch office in Colton, California. The Saint Jorge hospital 

	

/4 
	and doctor are unknown. 
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4. 1989: allergy testing and weekly allergy shots for a few months. - Treatment in 

	

/6 
	Redlands, CA, - Beaver Medical Office 

	

27 
	5. Cyst 

	

28 
	 A. 1996 cyst on bottom inner lip removed- treatment in Highland, CA - Beaver 

Medical Office 
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B. 1998 cyst in middle of back removed. - Treatment in Highland, CA- Beaver 

	

2 
	 Medical Office 

	

3 
	6. Warts 

4 
	 A. 1996- at the Beaver medical office in Colton, CA (Cooley Ranch Office) 

	

5 
	 B. 1996- at the Beaver medical office in Highland, CA 

7. 2004-2006 was treated multiple times for bronchitis and walking phenomena. - 

	

7 
	C.S.U.S.B. 

	

8 
	Mental Treatment:  

	

9 
	None 

10 
	Addresses and Phone numbers:  

	

11 
	Kaiser Petmanente: 

	

12 
	9961 Sierra Ave., Fontana, CA 92335 (909) 427-5000 

	

13 
	Beaver Medical Group 

	

14 
	1300 East Cooley Dr., Colton, CA 92324 (909) 370.4100 

	

15 
	Beaver Medical Group 

	

16 
	2 West Fern Ave., Redlands, CA 92373 (909) 793-3311 

	

17 
	Beaver Medical Group 

	

18 
	7000 Boulder Ave., Highlands, CA 92346. (909) 862-1191 

	

19 
	Health Office at California State University San Bernardino 

	

20 
	5500 University Parkway, San Bernardino, CA 92407, (909) 537-5241 

21 INTERROGATORY NO. 13:  

	

22 
	If you ever suffered any injuries, accident, or otherwise prior to the incident complained of 

23 herein, please state the nature of the injuries sustained, the date and place it was sustained, and the 

24 name, address, and telephone number of any health care provider who treated you for the injury. 

25 RESPONSE: 

	

26 
	Sustained hearing loss. Please refer to No. 12 of Prior Medical History. 

MEDICAL TREATMENT 

INTERROGATORY NO. 14:  

For each practitioner or hospital who has examined or treated you for any of the alleged 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

13 

RESPONSE: 

None. 

WITNESSES 

INTERROGATORY NO. 18:  

List the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of all witnesses to the incident and/or 

persons having knowledge of the events leading up to the incident or of the events taking place 

thereafter. 

RESPONSE: 

Please see the ECC in this matter and the Witness and Exhibit list outlined within that 

ECC #1-11. Additionally,the EWitness: Lorenzo Arick Rocha Address: 33069 Eagle Point 

Drive, Yucaipa, CA 92399 Phone: (619) 507-3095 Persons before and after the event: Shannon 

and Chad Mekatarian Address: 33857 Golden Crown Way, Yucaipa, CA 92399 Phone: Chad. 

(949) 981-7072, Shannon (949) 201-7966 

INTERROGATORY NO. 19:  

State the name, address, telephone number, and specialty of any person you intend to use as 

an expert witness in this case and give a summary of his/her opinion concerning the case. 

RESPONSE: 

This will be disclosed pursuant to the Court's Scheduling Order. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 20:  

If you or your attorney have obtained or are aware of the existence of any oral, written or 

recorded statement, or description made or claimed to have been made by any party or witness, 

state the name, address, and telephone number of the person giving the statement and the date 

given unless such information has previously been provided at the Early Case Conference. 

RESPONSE: 

Nothing additonal. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 21:  

If any insurance company or any other person or organization has paid or reimbursed any of 

the expenses you incurred as a result of the alleged injuries that are the subject of this action, state 

the name, address, nature, and amount of any such payment for each entity. 

25 

/6 

27 

18 
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1 RESPONSE: 

Objection. This request calls for the production of inadmissable collateral source evidence 

3 as well as invades the privacy of the Plaintiff by requesting information not reasonably calculated 

4 to lead to the discovery of admissible or relevant evidence. Without waiving these objections, 

5 Victims of Crime: 555 East Washington Ave. Las Vegas, Phone (702) 486-2740fax (775) 688- 

6 2900 My advocate is George Brown. My claim # is 15849 

	

7 
	 DAMAGES 

8 INTERROGATORY NO. 22: 

	

9 
	If you claim that as a result of this incident you have suffered injuries or disabilities which 

10 have caused you to limit or cease your participation in any hobbies or other forms of recreation or 

11 have caused you to lose any employment, please state in detail all such claimed losses. 

12 RESPONSE: 

	

13 
	As I have mentioned earlier in No. 8, 10, 11, 14, 15, and 16, do to the anxiety of being 

14 overwhelmed, challenged, and misunderstood, I can no longer stand in front of a classroom 

15 demand attention and teach. I have had this dream of teaching since I was 8 years old. Al the age 

16 of 8 I wrote in a book called "All About Me" that I wanted to be a teacher when I grew up. I put 

17 myself through 6 years of schooling (three collages) to fulfill my dream, And now I can't do it 

18 because I feel scared, threatened, intimidated, and unconfident. I can't teach without feeling 

19 overwhelmed, stressed, and worried. My anxiety went through the roof every time the bell rang 

20 and the next group of students (period change) walked through the door. Here I go again I would 

21 think to myself. I have to demand their respect and pretend that I'm not falling apart inside. It's net 

fair that Eric Ferrell made me feel this way. Ferrell robbed me from my dream and passion in life. 

23 I guess that this would make sense to someone who is a teacher. Because this is was the one thing 

24 I always knew I wanted it has left me feeling lost. I have since this tragic event tried to look for a 

25 career outside of teaching. Sadly do to our economy I cant find a job because ether I'm over 

26 qualified, under qualified, or don't have the experience they are asking for. 

	

27 
	So as for now I found a job working in a childcare room with a ratio of no more than a six 

28 to one ratio. More so, 90% of the day it is a three to one ratio. The ratio can be verified through 

my supervisor Debra Weber. Pm a baby sitter in this job I make less than half of the money I use 
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to make subbing. I max out in pay at less than $14.00 an hour. There is a lady I work with who 

has worked this same job for ten years and she is not even maxed out in pay. Really? I went to 

collage for this type of pay? You don't even have to have a degree for my job. All you need is 60 

hours of volunteer experience working with kids. It is so embarrassing to have this job. I use to 

run a classroom and teach up to 36 kids at a time. Now I check for poopy diapers and take the kid 

to their parents if they are crying or need to be changed. The parents are aloud only up to 3 hours a 

day in the ohildcare room. The hardest part of my day is listening to crying or telling a kid to share 

the toys, There is no teaching of any sort going on. I feel like such a failure. I'm so ashamed and 

embarrassed of myself. I cant believe that 1/3 of my monthly salary goes to paying my student 

loans. For what? I hope that working with the county will soon open doors to a different and 

higher paying position. 

This has been a huge financial burden on Mr. Rocha and I. Lucky for me Rocha has 

always been by my side and supported my decisions on leaving teaching. He saw the day to day of 

how the anxiety took its toll on me. He lived through it with me. He knew that it was a hard 

decision for me to leave my career but he knew I had no other choice. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 23:  

If you claim that your earning capacity will be impaired as a result of the incident in 

question, state the nature of the condition that will cause the impairment and the manner in which 

your ability to work will be impaired. 

RESPONSE: 

The nature of my illness is my social anxiety. My earning capacity has been impaired 

because I no longer am pursuing the last two texts (which I was studying for prior to the incident) 

and last quarter of my teaching credential and furthering my career in teaching. In order for me to 

work in this economy I have to except an entry-level position, buy my time with an organization 

and work my way up. It's a very harsh reality for me to except but I have no other choice. I have 

to move on in life the best and most comfortable way I can. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 24:  

If you claim to have lost any time from gainful employment as a result of the incident, 

please set forth the specific injury, symptom, illness or disability which you claim caused the loss 
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of time and the amount of time and wages lost. 

2 RESPONSE: 

	

3 
	I lost one-month worth of wages do to an all work order from the Doctor. 

4 INTERROGATORY NO. 25: 

	

5 
	Itemize all expenses which you claim to have incurred as result of the incident in question, 

6 giving a description of each item of expense claimed, the name of the person, firm, or company to 

7 whom each item was paid and the amount of each item, unless such itemized list was previously 

8 provided at the Early Case Conference. 

9 RESPONSE: 

	

10 
	I was put on a one moth off work order. As a substitute teacher for the Fontana Unified 

11 School District I made a flat rate of $120.00 a day. 25 days of work were missed. Sol was out 

12 $3,000.00 before taxes. Additionally, please see the ECC dated September 23, 2011 outlining 

13 past medical specials of $20,726.52. Additionally, I have been forced to retain the services of an 

14 attorney. 

	

15 
	 MEDICARE DISCOVERY 

16 INTERROGATORY NO. 26:  

	

17 
	Are you a medicare recipient? 

18 RESPONSE: 

	

19 
	No. 

20 INTERROGATORY NO. 27:  

	

21 
	Are you on social security disability? 

22 RESPONSE: 

	

23 
	No. 

24 INTERROGATORY NO. 28: 

	

25 
	

Have you applied for SSD benefits within the last twenty-four (24) months? 

26 RESPONSE: 

	

27 
	No. 

28 INTERROGATORY NO. 29:  

Have you been denied SSD benefits within the last twenty-four (24) months? 
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